REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE			Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188			
sources, gathering aspect of this collec Operations and Re provision of law, no	and maintaining the option of information, in ports (0704-0188), 1	data needed, and cluding suggestior 215 Jefferson Dav ect to any penalty fo	completing and reviewing the solution of the burden, the burden, the burden, the highway, Suite 1204, A per failing to comply with a control of the burden o	ne collection of inf to Department of D rlington, VA 22202	ormation. Send o efense, Washing 2-4302. Respond	time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data comments regarding this burden estimate or any other gton Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information lents should be aware that notwithstanding any other display a currently valid OMB control number.
1. REPORT DA	TE (DD-MM-YYYY) 2. REPOR	Т ТҮРЕ			3. DATES COVERED (From - To)
15-04-2021		Master of	Military Studies (M	MS) thesis		AY 2019-2020
4. TITLE AND S	UBTITLE				5a. CO	NTRACT NUMBER
The Influen	ce of China i	n Brazil: H	ow it can change	e military	N/A	
cooperatior	h between B	razil and th	e United States.	-	5b. GR	ANT NUMBER
					N/A	
						OGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER
					N/A	
6. AUTHOR(S)						OJECT NUMBER
			nden Dre-ilien			
Baptista, Al	exandro D. /	A. (Comma	nder - Brazilian	navy)	N/A	
					5e. TA	SK NUMBER
					N/A	
					5f. WO	RK UNIT NUMBER
					N/A	
	G ORGANIZATIO	• •	D ADDRESS(ES)			8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION
	hand and Staff	College				
Marine Corps 2076 South S						N/A
Quantico, VA						
			(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)		10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)
N/A			(-),,			
						11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S) N/A
12. DISTRIBUT	ION/AVAILABILIT	Y STATEMENT				
Approved for	public release,	distribution u	Inlimited.			
13. SUPPLEME	NTARY NOTES					
14. ABSTRACT						
markets to trade its making them ideal t become the most in space program sind focusing on the risk two countries on Bra	commodities. In cont rading partners. The nportant foreign direc ce 1988. In the militar s posed by emerging	rast, China has exe Chinese influence t investor in Brazil i r realm, China and states and threats and inferred what	essive foreign reserves and on Brazil has been growing n the last decades alongsid Brazil started military coope to US hegemony, the Chine could happen next. This wor	I has a great need in the last few deca e the US. Moreove eration agreements ase influence on Br	to import commo ades. China beca r, China has bee in mid-2000. Sir azil has become	op its infrastructure and wants access to consumer dities. Both countries have converging interests ame Brazil's largest trade partner in 2009, and it has n collaborating in the development of the Brazilian nee the US changed its National Security Strategy by a relevant topic. This work studies the influence of the influence on Brazil would change Brazil-US security
15. SUBJECT T	ERMS					
Chinese inf Economy	luence on Bi	azil; Brazil	-US military coop	peration, in	npact; Gre	eat Power competition;
16. SECURITY	CLASSIFICATION	OF:	17. LIMITATION OF	18. NUMBER	19a. NAME (OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON
a. REPORT	b. ABSTRACT	c. THIS PAGE	ABSTRACT	OF	USMC Cor	nmand and Staff College
				PAGES		HONE NUMBER (Include area code)
Unclass	Unclass	Unclass	UU	25		3330 (Admin Office)
01101033	01101033	01101033	00	— -		

United States Marine Corps Command and Staff College Marine Corps University 2076 South Street Marine Corps Combat Development Command Quantico, Virginia 22134-5068

MASTER OF MILITARY STUDIES

TITLE:

The Influence of China in Brazil: How it can change military cooperation between Brazil and the United States

SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF MILITARY STUDIES

AUTHOR:

Commander Alexandro de Araujo Baptista, Brazilian Navy

AY 2020-21

MMS Mentor Team and Oral Defense Committee Member: Dr. Matt	hew R. Slat	er
Approved:		
Date:		

MMS Mentor Team and Oral Defense Committee Member: LtCol. Kenneth Jones Approved: _____ Date: _____

MMS Mentor Team and Oral Defense Committee Member: LtCol. John Nash Approved: _____ Date: _____

United States Marine Corps Command and Staff College Marine Corps University 2076 South Street Marine Corps Combat Development Command Quantico, Virginia 22134-5068

MASTER OF MILITARY STUDIES

TITLE:

The Influence of China in Brazil: How it can change military cooperation between Brazil and the United States

SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF MILITARY STUDIES

AUTHOR:

Commander Alexandro de Araujo Baptista, Brazilian Navy

AY 2020-21

Approved: AT	am and Oral Defense Committee Member: <u>Dr. Matthew R. Slater</u>
Date: 21 APR	: 15
MMS Mentor Tea	m and Orat Defense Committee Member: LtCol. Kenneth Jones
Date: 2104	15
MMS Mentor Te	mand Orap Defense Committee Member: LtCol. John Nash

Date: 210415

DISCLAIMER

THE OPINIONS AND CONCLUSIONS EXPRESSED HEREIN ARE THOSE OF THE INDIVIDUAL STUDENT AUTHOR AND DO NOT NECESSARILY REPRESENT THE VIEWS OF EITHER THE MARINE CORPS COMMAND AND STAFF COLLEGE OR ANY OTHER GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY. REFERENCES TO THIS STUDY SHOULD INCLUDE THE FOREGOING STATEMENT.

QUOTATION FROM, ABSTRACTION FROM, OR REPRODUCTION OF ALL OR ANY PART OF THIS DOCUMENT IS PERMITTED PROVIDED PROPER ACKNOWLEDGEMENT IS MADE.

Executive Summary

Title: The Influence of China in Brazil: How it can change military cooperation between Brazil and the United States

Author: Commander Alexandro de Araujo Baptista, Brazilian Navy

Thesis: The implications of growing Chinese influence on Brazil may negatively affect military cooperation between Brazil and United States because China has emerged as the primary US adversary recently.

Discussion: There are few studies considering the effects of Chinese influence on Latin America. Brazil is seeking investments to develop its infrastructure and wants access to consumer markets to trade its commodities. In contrast, China has excessive foreign reserves and has a great need to import commodities. In that case, Brazil and China have converging interests making them ideal trading partners. The Chinese influence on Brazil has been growing in the last few decades. China became Brazil's largest trade partner in 2009, and it has become the most important foreign direct investor in Brazil in the last decades alongside the US. Moreover, China has been collaborating in the development of the Brazilian space program since 1988. In the military realm, China and Brazil started military cooperation agreements in mid-2000. Since the US changed its National Security Strategy by focusing on the risks posed by emerging states and threats to US hegemony, especially in the economic, technological, and military fields, the Chinese influence on Brazil has become a relevant topic. This paper's research methodology is based on literature reviews and analysis, based on articles, books, papers, speeches, documents of the Ministry of Defense of Brazil, and many original Brazilian sources. This work studies the influence of the two countries on Brazil, compared them, and inferred what could happen next.

Conclusion: This work concludes that growing Chinese influence on Brazil would change Brazil-US security relations in four scenarios of the five considered during the study. In the scenario where the Great Powers are fighting for influence, it would increase. In the scenario where the US would retaliate against Brazil for allowing Chinese influence in its territory, it would decrease. In the scenarios of the great powers demand for each nation choose one side, similar to the Cold War, or in case of a conflict between them, it would change according to the Brazilian decision of which side it would support. In the scenario where the US would no see Chinese influence on Brazil as a threat to its interest, it would remain the same.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary iii
Table of Contents iv
List of Figuresv
List of Tables vi
Prefacevii
Chapter One: Introduction1
Chapter Two: The US influence in Brazil
Brief Brazil-US Relationship History4
Brazil-US Military Cooperation: Brazilian Navy Perspective
Brazil-US Trade and Financial Relationship8
US Cultural Influence in Brazil9
Chapter Three: The Influence of China in Brazil11
Brazil-China Trade Relationship11
Brazil-China Technology Cooperation14
Chinese Cultural Influence on Brazil17
Brazil-China Military Cooperation18
Chapter Four: Analysis and Assessment
Chapter Five: Conclusion
Bibliography

List of Figures

List of Tables

Table 1: Comparative of Brazil-US and Brazil-China relations	20
--	----

Preface

The United States has been one of the main countries to cooperate in the military field with Brazil, especially concerning naval cooperation. These relations are historical, and nowadays, there are many senior Brazilian Navy officers who have had professional experiences working with the United States military services. Some of them have attended courses, others have participated in exchange programs, and others as liaison officers. For instance, I had the opportunity to attend the Basic Reconnaissance Course in Camp Pendleton in 2011 when I was a Lieutenant. However, as the US's main competitor, China is strengthening its ties with Brazil, which may impact the military relationship between Brazil and the US. To better understand how, or if, growing Chinese influence in Brazil will impact Brazilian-US cooperation I designed scenarios based on current data. Will the next generation of Brazilian Marine officers take the Basic Reconnaissance Course in the US, or will they take a similar course in China? That is a good question that I tried to answer.

Briefly, I would like to express how thankful I am. I want to acknowledge the unrestricted support of my wife, Agatha, who has paused her career in order to set an exceptional environment at our home, allowing me to do a better research. Besides, I want to acknowledge my daughter Camila, thanking her for the support even though she was not close to me during this period. Moreover, I appreciate LtCol Kenneth Jones for being a role model as a military faculty, equipped with strong leadership skills, who has built a unique cohesion felling in our conference group. I want to acknowledge my colleagues' support and friendship in the Marine Corps University, who has welcomed me in the best way possible. Other than previous acknowledgments, I want to mention all Leadership Communication Skills Center members' help, in particular Mrs. Stase Wells, who has been always available to patient and thoroughly

vii

review my papers and also helped me to overcome the language barrier I have first faced. Ultimately, I genuinely thank my mentor, Dr. Matthew R. Slater, who has provided me careful guidance, tireless attention and pleasant meetings, which were essential to the accomplishment of this work.

Chapter One: Introduction

This work explores the implications of China's growing influence on Brazil and how that relationship may affect military cooperation between the United States and Brazil. This paper starts with the hypothesis that the increase in Chinese influence in Brazil will have a negative impact on Brazilian military cooperation with the United States.

The United States changed its national security strategy by focusing on the risks posed by emerging states and threats to US hegemony, especially in the economic, technological, and military fields. Thus, the War on Terror has been losing ground to the new great power competition era. Among the states, China stands out as the primary US adversary for three reasons. First, China has the second-largest economy in the world.¹ Second, China has achieved several technological goals, specifically in the space program and telecommunication sector.² And third, China has increased investments to improve military capabilities.³ In addition to the facts presented above, Southeast Asia has emerged as an important economic market. For example, Europe used to possess 45 percent of global gross domestic product (GDP) in 2000, and in 2018 it shifted to 31 percent primarily due to displacement by China.⁴

These facts have contributed to the significant growth of US engagement in the Indo-Pacific region. Issues such as the support of the United States in the Taiwan separatist movement;⁵ the Chinese territorial disputes in the South China Sea including the construction of artificial islands;⁶ the Chinese infrastructure project known as One Belt One Road (OBOR) or Belt and Road Initiative (BRI);⁷ the domain of infrastructure technology of the ultra-fast 5G cell phone network by the Chinese company Huawei;⁸ the Trade War between China and the United States;⁹ the Chinese technological advances in space, cyber, and robotics; and the growing Chinese investment in its armed forces have gained prominence in specialized defense and international policy periodicals.¹⁰

There are few studies considering the effects of Chinese influence on Latin America, and specifically Brazil. It is the most important country in the region because it is the largest country in territorial extension and population size.¹¹ It has the largest economy and the most significant military in Latin America.¹² Brazil is seeking investments to develop its infrastructure and wants access to consumer markets to trade its commodities.¹³ Contrarily, China has excessive foreign reserves and has a great need to import commodities.¹⁴ Brazil and China have converging interests making them ideal trading partners. The Chinese influence has been growing in the last few decades. China became Brazil's largest trade partner in 2009 and China has become the most important foreign direct investor in Brazil in the last few decades alongside the US.¹⁵ China and Brazil cooperated in the formulation of a COVID-19 vaccine. In addition, China has been collaborating in the development of the Brazilian space program since 1988.¹⁶ In the military realm, China and Brazil initiated a military cooperation agreement in mid-2000.

This study broadly concludes that the Chinese influence in Brazil could benefit Brazil in the Brazil-US military cooperation. First, it creates opportunities for Brazil to interact with the most significant global military powers since the great power competition era does not compel other countries to choose one side, like in the Cold War. Second, Brazil could significantly improve its infrastructure with the BRI. Third, it may forces the US to reconsider increasing military cooperation in sensitive areas such as space and cyber technologies to avoid the Chinese ability to fill the vacuum where traditionally the US limits cooperation.

However, the Chinese influence in Brazil can be negative for Brazilian national interest. First, the Chinese influence may cause Brazil to incur large deficits and negatively impact Brazil's level of corruption. Second, the Chinese influence can negatively impact social and environmental problems. Third, there is a risk that China and the US could find themselves in a military conflict, and Brazil should be ready to choose one side that can affect Brazilian military

power depending on the degree of relationship with the two countries. And finally, it can degrade the Brazilian national industry since competing with the Chinese industry is an asymmetrical fight.

The research methodology for this paper is based on literature reviews and analysis, based on articles, books, papers, speeches, documents of the Ministry of Defense of Brazil, and many original Brazilian sources. This study is divided into five parts. The second chapter will cover the US influence in Brazil, addressing the historical relationship, the relationship between the navies, the trade and financial influence, the tourism influence, and the cultural influence. In the third chapter, the study will address the Chinese influence in Brazil, covering the trade and financial relationship, the cultural influence, and the military influence. The fourth chapter will analyze and assess the Chinese influence in Brazil compared with the Brazil-US relations. And the fifth chapter will conclude the study.

Chapter Two: The US influence in Brazil

Brazil and the US have many similarities. They are physically close, both are the most populous states in their respective continents,¹⁷ each possess the largest economies on their continents,¹⁸ and both are two of the largest states in the Americas alongside Canada.¹⁹ Due to these similarities and the regular economic and social interaction the US greatly influences Brazil. This chapter will address the history of the relationship between the two nations, the cooperation between the two countries' navies, the trade and financial relationship, and the US cultural influence in Brazil.

Brief Brazil-US Relationship History

Brazilian and US relations date back to the establishment of Brazilian Independence and witnessed a great deal of cooperation during key historical events. The US was the first country to establish a consulate in Brazil in 1815.²⁰ At that time, Brazil was not yet an independent state. The US was the first country to recognize Brazil's independence from Portugal just two years after its proclamation in 1822.²¹ Later on, after the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor, foreign ministers of twenty-one states on the American continent created the Inter-American Defense Board (IADB) in 1942.²² Its headquarters is in Washington, DC. Those are the origins of the formal cooperation of American states on security issues.

By the same token as the creation of the IADB, the inter-American peacekeeping conference was held in Rio de Janeiro in 1947, which resulted in the signing of the Inter-American Reciprocal Assistance Treaty, affirming the unity of the continent in the event of an attack of a third party. The third article states the following:

The High Contracting Parties agree that an armed attack by any State against an American State shall be considered as an attack against all the American States and, consequently, each one of the said Contracting Parties undertakes to assist in meeting the attack in the exercise of the inherent right of individual or collective self-defense recognized by Article 51 of the Charter of the United Nations.²³

One consequence of the Inter-American Reciprocal Assistance Treaty was the Organization of American States (OAS) creation in 1948.²⁴ The OAS's purpose is cooperation based on four main pillars: democracy, human rights, security, and development.²⁵

During the Cold War, Brazil was linked to the US in both economic and military sectors. There was no space for other great power influence during this period. The Brazilian state kept its capitalist foundation and fought against communist groups who tried to impose their will by force. In 1964, the communists were committed to taking over the Brazilian power; however, the population and the press asked for military intervention.²⁶ On April 2nd, the Brazilian Congress told the Armed Forces to temporarily take control of the executive branch.²⁷ During this period, Brazil had five army military officers who received the title of President of the Republic of Brazil.²⁸ After the elimination of the communist threat, and due to pressure by Brazilian society, there were presidential elections in 1984.

During the Korean War, there was an intense debate in Brazil regarding Brazilian participation between the executive and legislative branches.²⁹ Because of this debate, Brazil and the US signed a new military accord in 1952.³⁰ The Brazilian Congress approved the agreement but did not support sending Brazilian troops to fight in Korea.³¹ This Military Accord lasted until 1977 when Brazil nullified it in response to US President Jimmy Carter's allegations of human rights violations in Brazil.³² The military cooperation between the two countries was also negatively influenced by the Brazil-Germany nuclear agreement that was not well received by the US and the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics (USSR) in 1975.³³

The two countries have been cooperating since 1824. In a general overview, some key historical events have shown the cooperation was beneficial to them. The historical legacy continues today. Currently, there are several cooperation mechanisms between the two countries, such as Strategic Partnership Dialogue (conducted by the Brazilian Minister of Foreign Affairs and the United States Secretary of State); Defense Cooperation dialogue (conducted by the Minister of Defense of Brazil and the United States Secretary of Defense); Permanent US-Brazil Security Forum; Brazil - US Senior Executives Forum; Brazil-US Energy Forum; Economic-Financial Dialogue; Commercial Dialogue; and Commission for Economic and Commercial Relations.³⁴

Brazil-US Military Cooperation: Brazilian Navy Perspective

In the military aspect, more specifically in the Brazilian Navy, the US influence was intense and marked with assumed friendship. It began in 1914 when American Navy Commission officers taught Brazilian students at the newly formed Naval War School.³⁵ After the First World War, the US established itself as a major military power, and in 1922, Brazil asked the US to establish a US Navy Mission in Brazil instead of asking the British. This relationship helped in the development of naval aviation and submarine warfare in the Brazilian Navy. It is the origin of American influence in Brazil.³⁶

In 1937, Brazil opened the Brazilian Naval Commission in Washington (CNBW) to facilitate the purchase of naval assets, supplies, and services in the US.³⁷ The CNBW passed through several reorganizations during its existence and still is functioning today. The only two Brazilian Naval Commissions abroad are the CNBW and Brazilian Naval Commission in Europe, with an office in London.

During 1922-1977, the Brazilian Navy sent officers to attend courses in the US, and it also sent ships to be repaired at US shipyards.³⁸ Brazil bought US destroyers and was assisted in building its own ships.³⁹

In 1942, German submarines sank Brazilian merchant ships along Brazil's coast.⁴⁰ So, the Brazilian government entered World War II and declared itself an ally of the US, authorizing it to establish military bases on the country's northeast coast and sending contingents to the European front, specifically Italy.⁴¹ The Brazilian military fought alongside US Army troops against the powers of the Axis Alliance. During the war, Brazil sold raw material such as iron, manganese, tungsten, bauxite, and quartz to the US and allowed it to build military bases on Brazilian soil.⁴² The US sold military equipment to the Brazilian armed forces at a low price and the US Navy helped the Brazilian Navy train and equip its ships against German submarine

warfare along the Brazilian coast.⁴³ The remarkable victories of the USMC in the Pacific influenced the Brazilian Marine Corps (CFN) doctrine.⁴⁴ And from that moment the CFN shifted its employment from an internal security troop to an expeditionary amphibious force.⁴⁵ That definition was strongly visible and has lasted up to today. The Assault Amphibious Vehicle, first purchased from the US in 1982⁴⁶, is one of the most iconic pieces of equipment for the CFN and a symbol of self-identity.

After the war, the US provided Brazil with spare military equipment at a low price through the Military Aid Program, but to maintain the balance of power in South America, the US provided to Brazil, Argentina, and Chile in similar quantity and quality.⁴⁷ The US also supported the development of Naval Artillery ammunition and torpedo factories.⁴⁸ During that period, specifically in 1960, the Brazilian, US, and South American navies started the UNITAS maritime exercise. According to the US Navy, UNITAS is the world's longest-running annual multinational maritime exercise that still happens today.⁴⁹

Some authors argue that in the period of the Military Accord of 1952, the US limited its support to Brazil, selling obsolete equipment from World War II instead of providing new technologies.⁵⁰ For example, the US did not provide missiles to Brazilian Navy ships during the time the great powers were rebuilding their capability with this new discovery.⁵¹

After the close of the US Navy Mission in Brazil in 1977, the two navies kept their friendship, participating in the UNITAS exercise, sending officers to exchange programs, and mutually participating in Professional Military Education (PME) programs. Still, the relation between the two countries in military affairs was not the same again.⁵² The Brazilian Navy started to think strategically by itself and look for support from European states' navies to establish a role regionally. Some authors argue that the US limited the Brazilian Navy's support to keep a balanced power between Argentina, Brazil, and Chile.⁵³

The principal authors on the Brazil-US naval cooperation are Admiral Armando Vidigal and Admiral Mário César Flores.⁵⁴ The mainstream perspective on the issue is that the North American influence on the Brazilian Navy was fruitful because it helped build and update Brazilian naval forces' doctrine with what the United States learned during the various conflicts and organize the Brazilian Navy administratively, providing advice and exchanges. It contributed to creating and improving PME and the sale of naval assets, equipment, and armaments. However, both authors are reticent on two points: On the Brazilian side, there was an accommodation in developing their own doctrine, in building and nationalizing their means according to their own needs. There were restrictions on negotiating advanced equipment and systems, limitations on technology transfer, and strategic constraints for continued cooperation on the American side.

Today the two countries benefit from cooperation in the naval realm. Currently, the Brazilian Navy has eight agreements with the US. The oldest one is from 1978 regarding military personnel exchange, and the newest one is from 2008, addressing the acquisition of fuel for torpedoes. The two navies' agreements comprise arms selling, PME exchange, military personnel exchange, and hydrographic research programs.⁵⁵ According to the current Brazilian Navy Foreign Courses Program, by 2021, the Brazilian Navy intends to send 55 military personnel to attend courses in the US for example.⁵⁶

Brazil-US Trade and Financial Relationship

Brazil-US trade and financial relationship is very intense and beneficial to both countries. The US had been Brazil's largest trading partner since 1930 when it overtook England.⁵⁷ The US is the first-choice destination for manufacturing Brazilian products.⁵⁸ In 2019, according to the Brazilian Ministry of Economic data, Brazil exported \$29 billion to the US and in the same year Brazil imported \$30 billion from the US.⁵⁹ Brazil exports to the US basic iron and steel fabrication, aircraft and related machinery manufacturing, extraction of crude oil, refined petroleum products, and manufacture of basic chemicals.⁶⁰ And the US exports to Brazil basic iron and steel fabrication, aircraft and related machinery manufacturing, extraction of crude oil, and manufacture of refined petroleum products.⁶¹

The US and China have been alternating the title of the largest investor in Brazil since 2010.⁶² The cumulative inflow of US foreign direct investments (FDI) in Brazil from 2003 to 2019 is \$81.6 billion, accounting for 633 projects.⁶³ US direct investments in Brazil are concentrated in the service sector, especially in the financial industry, although the industrial sector's presence has been constant over time. The share of investments in other sectors is relatively marginal. It is notable the incidence of projects in telecommunications since 2013 and a reduction in 2017.⁶⁴

Since the Bretton Woods agreement in 1944,⁶⁵ Brazil keeps its international reserves in US dollars using the accumulation of international reserves as an essential policy against external vulnerability in financial globalization in spite of being a high-cost solution.⁶⁶ However, some authors argue that Brazil's investment portfolio of reserves has undeniable benefits.⁶⁷ Currently, Brazil's international reserves in US dollars are \$ 355.5 billion.⁶⁸

US Cultural Influence in Brazil

In the cultural aspect, the US influence is the strongest foreign effect in the Brazilian culture. The English language began to be taught in the Brazilian public education system from 1942, along with Latin, French, and Spanish.⁶⁹ Nowadays, by law, Brazilian middle schools must offer English as a foreign language, and the Brazilian high schools must have English as part of the formal curriculum.⁷⁰ English is the only foreign language that is mandatory in the Brazilian

education system. However, it is still a considerable challenge for Brazil to have its citizens mastering the English language due to the Brazilian educational system issues, as pointed out by a study by the British Council in 2014, even though English is currently the primary foreign language taught in the public and private education system in Brazil.⁷¹

Regarding the entertainment industry, the US movie industry also influences the Brazilian lifestyle. The Statistical Yearbook of Brazilian Cinema in 2015 showed that 83.9% of public releases went to films from the United States, 10.6% from Brazil, 2.0% from France, 1.4% from Germany, and 2.1% from other countries.⁷² In music, the North American predominance is no different. A study carried out in 2014 with young Brazilians between 16 and 24 years of age revealed that 55% listen to more North American music than Brazilian. However, most listeners do not fully understand the content of the lyrics.⁷³ According to the study, North American music in Brazil is associated with modernity, technical refinement, and an internationalized cultural environment that enjoys a differentiated prestige.⁷⁴ As the study was carried out in 2014, it did not contemplate the recent arrival of the South Korean musical influence carried by the young audience's K-Pop style.

Another interesting point about the Brazilian similarity to the US culture is the number of Brazilians living in the US. According to the Brazilian Ministry of Foreign Affairs estimate, 1.4 million Brazilians live in the US, and only 16,160 Brazilians are living in China.⁷⁵ That massive number of Brazilians living in the US reflects the cultural similarity between the two countries.

In the tourism industry, the US is also emerging as the main destination for Brazilians. In 2017, *FORBES* magazine published an article that talked about the US being the main destination for Brazilians when traveling abroad.⁷⁶ An article in *Latin American Business Stories* reported that 1.575 million Brazilians visited the United States and spent approximately 2 billion dollars in 2017.⁷⁷

This chapter depicted how the US influences Brazil in a variety of topics relevant to this study. It addressed the history of Brazil and the United States' relationship, the cooperation between the two countries' navies, the trade and financial relationship, and the US cultural influence in Brazil. A general overview of the US influence on Brazil can be rated as very beneficial to Brazil because it is based on core values like freedom, democracy, development, and cooperation. However, the US could help Brazil develop faster, not limiting its access to advanced technologies like cyber and space-development, for instance. The next chapter will address the Chinese influence in Brazil, covering the trade and financial relationship, technological and military cooperation, and cultural relations.

Chapter Three: The Influence of China in Brazil

Brazil and China are very different countries. In addition to their geographical distance, they possess distinct cultural backgrounds and political structures. However, their economic relationship is growing and therefore their common interest. This chapter will cover the Brazil-China trade and financial relationship, the technological cooperation, the Chinese cultural influence on Brazil, and the military cooperation between them.

Brazil-China Trade Relationship

Chinese maintains influence over Brazil due to their growing trade relationship. That influence is bringing attention to the Chinese presence in Brazil. The US had been Brazil's largest trading partner since 1930 when it overtook England.⁷⁸ In 1997, the Brazil-US trade relation was ten times larger than Brazil and China's.⁷⁹ However, in 2009, the US became the second trading partner giving way to China.⁸⁰ In 2019, according to the Brazilian Ministry of Economic data, Brazil's total exports were \$225 billion with \$63 billion, or 28%, to China.⁸¹ In

the same year, Brazil imported \$177 billion and \$35 billion, or 20%, from China.⁸² Figure 1 displays Brazil's export data for 2019.



Figure 1: Brazil Exports by Country (2019)

Source: Trading Economics, "Brazil Exports by Country," *Tradingeconomics.com*, accessed in January 16, 2021, <u>https://tradingeconomics.com/brazil/exports-by-country</u>

Most items imported by Brazil are manufactured and include basic chemical products; electronic components and plates; communication equipment; construction of ships and floating structures; consumer electronic products; and electric motors, generators, transformers, and electric power distribution devices.⁸³ Brazil mainly exports primary commodities to China, including, cereals (except rice), legumes and oilseeds, crude oil extraction, iron ore extraction, and meat processing and preservation.⁸⁴

The Brazilian trade relationship with China is asymmetric because Brazil exports raw materials and imports manufactured goods. Dependence on exports of raw materials makes Brazil vulnerable to the volatility of global commodity markets. Besides that, China is overtaking Brazil in selling manufactured goods in the international market and the Brazilian internal market creating a severe challenge to Brazilian industry.⁸⁵

The Brazil-China financial relationship is also significant. Combined with the trade relationship, both of these are creating common interests that form the basis of their relationship. Brazil demands capital to meet its investment and infrastructure needs, while China needs steady

flows of commodities and has heavy financial resources.⁸⁶ Due to its massive foreign exchange reserves, economic growth, and high level of savings, China has acquired enough financial power to employ it globally, ensuring it is a top international creditor, a large foreign investment source, and an issuer of an international reserve currency.⁸⁷

China has become the most important foreign direct investor in Brazil in the last few decades alongside the US. The title of the largest investor in Brazil has shifted back and forth between China and the US since 2010.⁸⁸ The cumulative inflow of Chinese foreign direct investments (FDI) in Brazil from 2003 to 2019 is \$79.6 billion, accounting for 170 projects.⁸⁹ According to the Foreign Investment Bulletin issued by the Brazilian Ministry of Economy in 2019, China invested 32% of total FDI accumulated in Brazil against 33% invested by the US in the same period.⁹⁰ That amount corresponds to almost 50% of all Chinese investment presence in Latin America and the Caribbean, making Brazil as the preferred country in the region.⁹¹

The Chinese investments in Brazil are focused on infrastructure, specifically energy, transportation, telecommunication, and sanitation.⁹² According to Anna Jaguaribe, the Chinese are spreading their investment in Brazil. In 2018, there were more than 200 Chinese firms in Brazil.⁹³ While energy remains the most critical and consistent sector of Chinese investment, transport, finance, and agriculture sectors are grow in relevance.⁹⁴

The perception of Chinese investment in Brazil's private sector is discordant. On the one hand, the agriculture sector sees the Chinese presence as positive since it benefited from soybean exports.⁹⁵ On the other hand, the manufacturing sector has not reacted to compete on equal terms with the Chinese presence in the domestic market and abroad. ⁹⁶

A critical point about the massive Chinese investment in Brazil is the effect of state ownership on Chinese firms' FDI ownership decisions. That subject was studied by Lin Cui and Fuming Jiang in 2012. They argue that state ownership creates the political affiliation of the

Chinese companies, which increases their resource dependence on Chinese institutions while it influences its image as perceived by host-country institutional constituents. ⁹⁷ Regarding that point, one can argue that competing with Chinese companies is competing with the Chinese government. That is a fact that must be considered when the topic is Chinese FDI.

Some authors like Clarissa Lins and Guilherme Ferreira argue that FDI related to BRI in Brazil brings three main risks associated.⁹⁸ First is that the Brazilian decision-making governance might not be able to decide how the investment will be conducted.⁹⁹ Second, the levels of indebtedness might become very high, and the results of it are unpredictable.¹⁰⁰ Third, the environmental and social impacts might be undesirable.¹⁰¹ Those risks become higher due to the lack of transparency of the BRI and fragile governance structure in Brazil.¹⁰²

Some scholars conducted research and concluded that if China deploys financial statecraft instruments to coax the Brazilian state into including the Renminbi in its currency reserves, the Chinese attempt would likely be successful.¹⁰³ It would be a significant step to challenge the US dollar's status quo as the world's dominant reserve currency¹⁰⁴ since the Bretton Woods Agreement in 1944.¹⁰⁵ One method that the Chinese are using to escape from the "dollar trap" is the Renminbi Internationalization Initiative but it can put Brazil in a more volatile currency like the Renminbi¹⁰⁶

Brazil-China Technology Cooperation

Brazil and China have experience cooperating in three technological areas; the space development, the mobile communication system, and the pharmaceutical industry. The model of economic and scientific-technological development became famous after the rising of the Asian Tigers.¹⁰⁷ It motivated Brazil to expand its partnership with Asian-Pacific countries in the field of science and technology.¹⁰⁸ So, the Sino-Brazilian Earth Resources Satellite Program (CBERS)

started in 1988 due to that motivation.¹⁰⁹ The satellite's purposes were agricultural, forestry, and environmental monitoring; geology; cartography; fire detection, location, and statistics; natural accident management; hydrology; coastal management; and land use.¹¹⁰ Furthermore, since the space technologies have civilian and military applications, Brazil and other emerging countries like China and India suffered technological embargos from the developed nations.¹¹¹ The nations that had the space dominance did not trust Brazil's intentions because of its nuclear program and its reluctance in signing the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT)¹¹², which was signed in 1996 and was ratified in 1998.¹¹³ The fact that Brazil had only become a member of the Missile Technology Control Regime (MTCR) as recently as 1995¹¹⁴ contributed to the suspicion about Brazil's intentions in the eighties.

It must be remembered that in 1988 China was not the same powerful nation as today. So, the Brazilian state started a cooperation with a similar nation in terms of development. At that time, both countries had enormous challenges toward their space programs. Actually, during the eighties, Brazil had a more advanced and complex industry than China.¹¹⁵

During the program, the two countries were able to launch six satellites.¹¹⁶ All of them were launched by a Chinese rocket from Taiyan Launch Center, China. The first CBERS-1 was launched in 1999.¹¹⁷ The second CBERS-2 was launched in 2003.¹¹⁸ The third CBERS-2B was launched in 2007. After the three successful satellites, both countries decided to build a second generation of CBERS, keeping the same purpose, changing only the technologies onboard.¹¹⁹ The fourth CBERS-3 was launched in 2013, but it did not achieve the earth's orbit remaining only a few minutes in space before reentering the atmosphere. During that time, its components worked properly. That was the first accident during the program.¹²⁰ The fifth satellite was launched in 2014 using the same Chinese rocket. And the CBERS-4A was launched in 2019.¹²¹ Only the last two satellites are operational today.¹²²

Some authors argue that the CBERS Program benefited not only the Brazilian Space Program but also the diplomatic and political realms.¹²³ Some benefits were strengthening the national space industry and development in the fields like environment, agriculture, mineral resources, and cartography, among other areas.¹²⁴ The Brazilian National Space Research Institute (INPE) hosts the Sino-Brazilian lab of Space Climate that will keep its activities going. The lab was a result of the two nations' cooperation.¹²⁵ That is a great goal for China. The Brazilian space program was not the only technological cooperation between China and Brazil.

The Chinese have significant participation in the telecommunication sector in Brazil. Brazil's biggest network equipment provider is Huawei, a Chinese telecom company¹²⁶ that arrived in Brazil in 1999.¹²⁷ In Brazil, Huawei focuses on the carriers market, where 70% of its revenues come from.¹²⁸ The Chinese company has contracts with the four major carriers in Brazil: Oi, Vivo, Tim, and Claro.¹²⁹ The Brazilian government is preparing for the public sale regarding the 5G, the superfast cellular networks scheduled to end the first semester of 2021.¹³⁰ According to Leonardo Euler de Morais, president of the Brazilian National Telecommunication Agency (ANATEL), it should be the largest auction for the right to use radio frequency in Brazil's history. The Chinese Huawei emerges as one of the main suppliers of equipment for telecommunications operators that might compete against the Swedish Nokia and the Finnish Ericsson in the auction.¹³¹ There are discussions about Huawei participation restrictions in the Brazilian auction due to geopolitical reasons after the 45th president of the United States, Donald Trump, brought concerns about the national security regarding Huawei equipment.¹³² Brazilian officials avoid making public statements about the topic.¹³³ Space development and the mobile communication system are two of the three main areas where China has cooperated in the technological realm with Brazil.

Regarding the COVID-19 pandemic, China and Brazil have cooperated in the formulation of a vaccine. The Brazilian Butantan Institute developed the CoronaVac vaccine with the Chinese company Sinovac Biotech. The vaccine's safety and efficacy was approved by the federal government's National Health Surveillance Agency (ANVISA) in January 2021. The phase III of vaccine development will be carried out at the Brazilian population. ¹³⁴ This fact has increased the debate about Chinese influence on Brazil, including manipulating information in the press, since the China Media Group made a deal of cooperation with Brazil's Grupo Globo, the largest media group in Latin America and with the Brazilian Media Group Bandeirantes at the end of 2019.¹³⁵

Chinese Cultural Influence on Brazil

The Chinese culture is not significant in Brazil. In general, Brazilians do not want to learn the Chinese language, which they consider a hard language to learn and with limited benefits. They prefer to learn English instead of Chinese because of cultural factors such as music, movies, and TV shows as well as pragmatic motivation. ¹³⁶ Since English is used worldwide, it can help in job opportunities, business, tourism, and international education. There are twelve Brazilian universities that host Confucius Institutes and they are located in all five regions of Brazil.¹³⁷ Confucius Institutes are non-profit institutions related to the Chinese government to promote Chinese culture around the world.¹³⁸ They started their presence in Brazil in 2008, and the number of students is increasing, but it is not significant yet.¹³⁹ Confucius Institutes still face the Brazilians' lack of interest in Chinese culture.

The Hollywood actor Bruce Lee helped Kung Fu, the Chinese martial art, become famous in the seventies.¹⁴⁰ However, the Brazilian Jiu-Jitsu (BJJ) became one of Brazil's most popular martial arts after the Gracie family started a project to prove that BJJ is the most efficient martial

art in the world.¹⁴¹ The project resulted in the famous Ultimate Fighter Championship (UFC) created by Rorion Gracie, a Brazilian Jiu-Jitsu fighter.¹⁴² For that reason, the Chinese influence in martial arts is not significant in Brazil. The only aspect of the Chinese culture expressively appreciated in Brazil is the Chinese food. However, Brazilians do not enjoy eating exotic or wild animals. So, the Chinese food in Brazil is represented by yakisoba, egg roll, and chop suey, and it cannot be claimed as a serious influence on the Brazilian lifestyle. To summarize, Brazil receives almost no influence from Chinese culture despite the Confucius Institutes' efforts in the last few decades.

Brazil-China Military Cooperation

China established formal diplomatic ties with Brazil only in 1974,¹⁴³ and the military cooperation started in the eighties when China opened a defense attaché's office in Brasília in 1985, and Brazil in Beijing in 1988.¹⁴⁴ The Brazil-China military cooperation became stronger in 2004 when the Ministries of Defense of both countries signed a Memorandum of Understanding for the purpose of promoting exchange and cooperation in a variety of defense-related areas.¹⁴⁵ In the following year, the Joint Commission for Exchange and Cooperation between the Ministry of National Defense of China and the Ministry of Defense of Brazil (JCEC) was created. Since 2010, the JCEC has met six times, and the last meeting took place in 2019.¹⁴⁶ The JCEC focuses on activities that are concentrated in the areas of education and personnel training. President Dilma Rousseff visited China in 2011 and signed a cooperation agreement related to defense areas including military courses and training; exchange of knowledge on defense technology, services, and products; cooperation on military operations, including UN peacekeeping operations; humanitarian assistance; security of major events; and military medicine.¹⁴⁷

During 2000-2011, thirteen Brazilians attended courses in China while six Chinese attended courses in Brazil.¹⁴⁸ During the same period, 369 Brazilians attended courses in the US, and ninety Americans attended courses in Brazil.¹⁴⁹ Twelve Chinese military officers attended Portuguese language courses offered by the Brazilian Army between 2000-2017.¹⁵⁰ Currently, Brazilian officers attend courses in China offered in English or Spanish. According to the current Brazilian Navy Foreign Courses Program, by 2021, the Brazilian Navy intends to send two officers to attend two courses in China; one of them is the 48-week Naval Command and Staff Program.¹⁵¹

In the naval realm, the Brazilian Navy does not have any formal agreement with the Chinese government as it has with the US. However, some recent facts show an increased interaction between the Brazilian Navy and China. For example, in 2009, the Commander of the Brazilian Navy participated in the celebrations of the 60th anniversary of the PLA Navy.¹⁵² The Brazilian Navy Ship *Garcia Davila* joined the naval parade as part of the ceremony.¹⁵³ In 2015, it was launched *Vital de Oliveira*, the first Brazilian Navy ship built in China.¹⁵⁴ In 2020, the Brazilian Navy launched the Antarctic base built by China Electronics Import and Export Corporation (CEIEC) after a fire destroyed the original one in 2012.¹⁵⁵

Chinese defense companies started to aim at Brazilian and other Latin American countries' markets. For example, the 2003 Latin America Defentech (LAD) show, staged in Brazil, was the first to include a delegation of Chinese businessmen.¹⁵⁶ In 2005, the PLA hosted the first China-Latin America Forum on Cooperation and Security, which included the participation of a senior Brazilian Army officer.¹⁵⁷ In 2014, during the visit of President Xi Jinping to Brazil, one agreement was signed between the Brazilian defense company Engevix, Chinese bank ICBC and CEIEC.¹⁵⁸ Initiatives on remote sensing, telecommunications and

information technology to protect the Brazilian Amazon region were part of the agreements signed during President Xi Jinping's visit to Brazil.¹⁵⁹

This chapter addressed the influence of China on Brazil. It covered the Brazil-China trade and financial relationship, the technological cooperation, the Chinese cultural influence on Brazil, and the military cooperation between the two countries. The recent cooperation and agreements between Brazil and China are undoubtedly strong evidence that China is interested in Brazil. Both countries seem to benefit from each other's interests. However, the industrial sector's asymmetrical competition might be a crucial disincentive to the Brazilian national industry. In addition, the massive Chinese FDI mixed with state and private capital due to Chinese companies' characteristics might leverage the advantage of Chinese enterprises against the Brazilian competitors. The next chapter will assess the Chinese influence on Brazil, comparing it to the US influence.

Chapter Four: Analysis and Assessment

This chapter will analyze and assess Chinese influence on Brazil, summarizing and comparing the US and Chinese influence on Brazil. This chapter will address how will growing Chinese may influence the Brazilian-US military relationship. It also will infer what might happen in case of China continues to increase its influence on Brazil, analyzing the opportunities and the risks for the Latin American country. The table summarizes few numbers and facts covered in the second and third chapters.

Area	US	China
Trade (2019 data) Exports to Brazil Imports from Brazil	\$30 billion (17%) \$29 billion (13%)	\$35 billion (20%) \$63 billion (28%)

Table 1: Comparative of Brazil-US and Brazil-China relations

Financial		
FDI (2003-2019)	\$81.6 billion (33%)	\$79.6 billion (32%)
Projects	633	170
International Reserve (2021)	355.5 billion US dollar	-
Cultural		
Language	High	Very low
Music	Very high	Inexpressive
Movies	Very high	Inexpressive
Brazilians living abroad	1.4 million	16.160
Brazilians traveling for tourism (2017)	1.575 million (\$2 billion)	Unknow
Professional Military Education		
Brazilians attended courses (2000-2011)	369	13
Foreign attended courses (2000-2011)	90	6
Forecast of Navy officers studying in 2021	55	2

Table 1 depicts that there is a Chinese influence on Brazil in trade and finance but that does not cross over into culture. Chinese influence the military sector is small but growing. China's influence grew in the last two decades, as was demonstrated in the third chapter. The most important factor driving Brazilian and Chinese relations is that Brazil is looking for investment to expand its infrastructure and needs access to consumer markets to export its commodities. Also, China has massive foreign reserves, and it has a great need to import commodities, seeking to develop the BRI. Nonetheless, the US is beginning to perceive a threat coming from the Pacific.

Some scholars write that China has extended the BRI to Latin America since 2018 and has carried out military operations since 2013. They believe that the new global power structure is different from the Cold War when countries had to choose sides. However, they understand that the Chinese influence in Latin America is broader than some other analysts think. They visualize risks for the United States in a hypothetical scenario of armed conflict with China. They recommend some actions for the US policymakers to deal with the problem.¹⁶⁰ Other scholars consider that the Chinese influence in the region is only economic due to the social and cultural barriers.

According to some authors if the US chooses to disengagement with Latin American countries as a penalty for greater cooperation with China, that will likely encourage those countries to become closer with China. The risk for Latin American states is if they increase interdependence with China they may increase unsustainable debts, becoming increasingly dependent on the export of commodities, increase the level of corruption, and fall short of international standards for the preservation of the environment, job security, and work laws.¹⁶¹

The recent pandemic caused by COVID-19 has intensified disputes between the United States and China. Trump administration accused the Chinese government of omitting important information at the beginning of the pandemic, causing a precious delay in containing the virus, preparing the health system, treating the disease, and developing a vaccine.¹⁶² Notably, China is the only country to have economic growth during the year 2020 since it was the country that originated the epidemic. Finally, it does not have an independent press, which has caused suspicion in the international community.¹⁶³ Some analysts suspect the virus was produced in the laboratory, but there is no scientific evidence regarding the accusation.¹⁶⁴

The growing Chinese influence on Brazil might change Brazil-US relations. First, the US may realize that China is filling the economic vacuum in the region and decide to change its posture by intensifying relations with Brazil. This scenario would be good for the Brazilian side. While the great powers are fighting for influence, Brazil could benefit from both Chinese and US support.

In the second scenario the great powers may force Brazil to choose between one of the two countries. Brazil would have to take many factors into consideration, including its geographic distance; historical relations; social, cultural, and political identities; and economic and financial relevance. That would be complicated because there are many realms where the two great powers compete for influence in Brazil as this work has shown so far. Depending on

which side Brazil would choose, the Brazilian-US military cooperation might intensify or be terminated.

In the third scenario, the US and China might start a conflict. In this case, the situation would be the same as the previous one, but with more drastic and sudden responses. One interesting point about this scenario is that it calls for Brazil to consider the Great Powers might demand that other nations to choose one side, and Brazil should provide guidance in its national strategy. Since investments in the military cost money, and time to develop capability and train the workforce, it is crucial that Brazil consider getting started to prepare for choosing one side.

In the fourth scenario, the US might not view Chinese influence on Brazil as a threat and keeps its current policies in place with limited cooperation in critical areas. In this scenario, Brazil-US military cooperation would not change, and Brazil should keep trying to engage in military cooperation between the two great powers.

In a fifth scenario, the US might decide to show its soft power by decreasing military cooperation with Brazil because of its involvement with China in economic means. That would be a complicated scenario where Brazil could strengthen military cooperation with China and losing it from the US. Nonetheless, Brazil would fall into a situation of choosing one side.

Growing Chinese influence in Brazil may have both positive and negative consequences for Brazil. Chinese influence in Brazil could increase Brazilian-US military cooperation. First, it creates opportunities for Brazil to interact with the most significant global military powers since the Great Powers do not demand that other countries choose one side. Second, Brazil could significantly improve its infrastructure with the BRI. Third, it could encourage the US to reconsider increasing military cooperation in sensitive areas such as space and cyber technologies to avoid the Chinese ability to fill the vacuum where traditionally the US limits cooperation.

However, previous examples of states increasing economic ties to China demonstrated that there are pitfalls that Brazil should avoid. Some authors call it "debt trap diplomacy" and "predatory loans" such as the cases of the Maldives, Kenya, Tajikistan, Sri Lanka, and Venezuela.¹⁶⁵ For example, in 2013, China started building a base in Argentina to monitor space activities for fifty years.¹⁶⁶ However, it is known that the military runs the Chinese space program. Between 2016 and 2018, Chinese fishing vessels accused of conducting predatory fishing in Argentina's Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ).¹⁶⁷ These facts may be disconnected. However, they can be an indicator that to extent the dependence on Chinese investments can endanger a country's sovereignty.

China could use its debt-trap diplomacy against Brazil. Chinese influence may cause Brazil to incur large deficits and negatively impact Brazil's corruption problems. Second, the Chinese influence can negatively impact social and environmental problems through unchecked economic growth. Third, there is a risk that China and the United States will become involved in a military conflict. Then, Brazil must be ready to assume a lateral policy considering its degree of relationship with one of the two great powers. And finally, it can degrade the Brazilian national industry since competing with the Chinese industry is an asymmetrical fight.

Chapter Five: Conclusion

This work aims to analyze the implications of China's growing influence on Brazil and how that relationship may affect military cooperation between the United States and Brazil. The hypothesis that the increase in Chinese influence in Brazil will have a negative impact on Brazilian military cooperation with the United States was not proven to be correct.

The growth of Chinese influence on Brazil over the last two decades is based on shared economic interest, especially in the trade and financial sector. Brazil needs investment to develop its infrastructure and looks for consumer markets to export its commodities while China has foreign reserves. It has a great need to import commodities, and it needs to materialize the BRI. Nonetheless, China exports manufactured goods to Brazil and imports commodities from it. That asymmetric relation is a challenge for the Brazilian national industry that is losing market share compared to Chinese companies at home and abroad.

This work concludes that growing Chinese influence on Brazil would change Brazil-US security relations in four scenarios of the five considered during the study. In the scenario where the Great Powers are fighting for influence, it would increase. In the scenario where the US would retaliate against Brazil for allowing Chinese influence in its territory, it would decrease. In the scenarios of the Great Powers demand Brazil to choose one side, or in case of a conflict between them, it would change according to the Brazilian decision of which side it would support. In the scenario where the US would no see Chinese influence on Brazil as a threat to its interest, it would remain the same.

This work recommends that Brazil should take advantage of the Great Power competition where China is challenging the US in its historical areal of influence to develop its military cooperation agreements with the US. Also, Brazil should be prepared to decide if the Great Powers demand that other countries should take a side.

This work identifies that further research could be done in Brazil-US military cooperation agreements to use the Great Power competition era as a lever to negotiate better conditions during those cooperation arrangements. Another point for further study is how one side policy may impact Brazilian military doctrine and means in each service.

Endnotes

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.CD?most recent value desc=true

¹ Scott D. McDonald and Michael C. Burgoyne, *China's Global Influence: Perspectives and* Recommendations, (Honolulu, HI: Asia-Pacific Center for Security Studies, 2019) 87. ² Scott D. McDonald and Michael C. Burgoyne, China's Global Influence: Perspectives and Recommendations, 156. ³ US Department of Defense, Military and Security Developments Involving the People's Republic of *China 2019*, 31-67. ⁴ Scott D. McDonald and Michael C. Burgoyne, China's Global Influence: Perspectives and Recommendations, 136. ⁵ Bonnie S. Glaser and Mathew P. Funaiole, "Poll Shows Increase in American Support for Defending Taiwan," The Diplomat, October 23, 2020. https://thediplomat.com/2020/10/poll-shows-increase-in-american-support-for-defending-taiwan/ ⁶ Scott D. McDonald and Michael C. Burgoyne, China's Global Influence: Perspectives and Recommendations, 164. ⁷ Raffaello Pantucci and Sarah Lain, "China's Grand Strategy: The Belt and Road Initiative," *The White* Hall Papers, 2017. ⁸ Asa Fitch and Stu Woo, "The U.S. vs. China: Who Is Winning the Key Technology Battles? China leads in 5G, but the U.S. has an edge in other crucial niches-for now," Wall Street Journal Online, (Apr 2020), https://search-proquest-com.lomc.idm.oclc.org/newspapers/u-s-vs-china-who-is-winning-keytechnology/docview/2388651312/se-2?accountid=14746. ⁹ Edward Wong, "U.S. Versus China: A New Era of Great Power Competition, but Without Boundaries," The New York Times, June 26, 2019. ¹⁰ US Department of Defense, Military and Security Developments Involving the People's Republic of China 2019, 10-112. ¹¹ US Census Bureau, Current Population, https://www.census.gov/popclock/print.php?component=counter; Central Intelligence Agency, The World Factbook, https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/rankorder/2147rank.html ¹² Camilo Salazar, "Latin America: how are their military forces?", LatinAmerican Post, April 15, 2019. https://latinamericanpost.com/27205-latin-america-how-are-their-military-forces ¹³ Antonio C. Dominguez, "China's Financial Statecraft and the internationalization of the Renminbi: what looms over Brazil's foreign Exchange reserves?" (Postgraduate thesis, Universidade de São Paulo, 2019), abstract. https://www.teses.usp.br/teses/disponiveis/101/101131/tde-14022020-103729/publico/Antonio_Cesar_Dominguez.pdf ¹⁴ Antonio C. Dominguez, "China's Financial Statecraft and the internationalization of the Renminbi: what looms over Brazil's foreign Exchange reserves?," 47. ¹⁵ Thomas Lum, China's Engagement with Latin America and the Caribbean, CRS Report for Congress IF10982 (Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service, June 1, 2020), 1. https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/IF/IF10982 ¹⁶ Renata Ribeiro, "Aliança tecnológica com a China na área espacial: os 30 anos do Programa CBERS (1988-2018)," (Postgraduate thesis, Universidade de Brasília, 2019), 136. https://repositorio.unb.br/bitstream/10482/38674/1/2019_RenataCorrêaRibeiro.pdf ¹⁷ U.S. Census Bureau, "U.S. and World Population Clock," accessed January 11, 2021. https://www.census.gov/popclock/world ¹⁸ The World Bank, "GDP (current in US\$): Word Bank national accounts data, and OECD National Accounts data files," accessed January 11, 2021.
¹⁹ Central Intelligence Agency, "The World Factbook," accessed January 11, 2021.

https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/countries/canada/#geography

https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/countries/brazil/#geography

²⁰ U.S. Department of State, "U.S. Consulate General Recife," accessed January 11, 2021, https://br.usembassy.gov/embassy-consulates/recife/

²¹ Brazilian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, "Estados Unidos da América," accessed January 11, 2021. https://www.gov.br/mre/pt-br/assuntos/relacoes-bilaterais/todos-os-paises/estados-unidos-da-america

²² Armando Vidigal, A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro, 92.

²³ "Inter-American Treaty of Reciprocal Assistance," September 2, 1947.

http://www.oas.org/juridico/english/treaties/b-29.html

²⁴ Organization of American States, "Our History", accessed January 11, 2021. http://www.oas.org/en/about/our_history.asp

²⁵ Organization of American States, "What we do", accessed January 11, 2021. http://www.oas.org/en/about/what_we_do.asp

²⁶ Jair Bolsonaro, "Exército no poder foi instrumento da vontade popular," *Notícias Uol*, March 2014. <u>https://noticias.uol.com.br/opiniao/coluna/2014/03/26/exercito-no-poder-foi-instrumento-da-vontade-popular.htm?cmpid=copiaecola&cmpid=copiaecola</u>

²⁷ Jair Bolsonaro, "Exército no poder foi instrumento da vontade popular."

²⁸ Jair Bolsonaro, "Exército no poder foi instrumento da vontade popular."

²⁹ Sonny B. Davis, "Brazil-United States Military Relations in The Early Post-World War II Era," *Diálogos*, (June 2017), 23, 28.

http://www.periodicos.uem.br/ojs/index.php/Dialogos/article/view/37761

³⁰ Sonny B. Davis, "Brazil-United States Military Relations in The Early Post-World War II Era," 28.

³¹ Sonny B. Davis, "Brazil-United States Military Relations in The Early Post-World War II Era," 28.

³² Armando Vidigal, A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro, 104.

³³ Armando Vidigal, A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro, 104.

³⁴ Brazilian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, "Estados Unidos da América," accessed January 11, 2021.

https://www.gov.br/mre/pt-br/assuntos/relacoes-bilaterais/todos-os-paises/estados-unidos-da-america

³⁵ Armando Vidigal, A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro, 74.

³⁶ Armando Vidigal, A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro, 74.

³⁷ Brazilian Navy," CNBW – Histórico," accessed January 11, 2021.

https://www.marinha.mil.br/cnbw/?q=pt-br/historico

³⁸ Armando Vidigal, A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro, 77-102.

³⁹ Armando Vidigal, A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro, 75-102.

⁴⁰ Armando Vidigal, A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro, 85-86.

⁴¹ Juliana Bezerra, "O Brasil na Segunda Guerra Mundial," *TodaMatéria.com*, June 2019.

https://www.todamateria.com.br/o-brasil-na-segunda-guerra-mundial/

⁴² Armando Vidigal, A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro, 82-84.

⁴³ Armando Vidigal, A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro, 86-89.

⁴⁴ Armando Vidigal, A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro, 93.

⁴⁵ Armando Vidigal, A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro, 93.

⁴⁶ Armando Vidigal, A evolução do pensamento estratégico naval brasileiro: meados da década de 70 até os dias atuais, (Rio de Janeiro: Clube Naval, 2002), 63.

⁴⁷ Armando Vidigal, A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro, 89.

⁴⁸ Armando Vidigal, A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro, 90.

⁴⁹ Michael Hendricks, "UNITAS: Our 58 Years Of Unity In The Americas", *Surface Warfare Magazine*, Fall 2017.

https://www.public.navy.mil/surfor/swmag/Pages/UNITAS-Our-58-years-of-unity-in-the-Americas.aspx

⁵⁰ Armando Vidigal, A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro, 98-99.

⁵¹ Armando Vidigal, A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro, 98-99.

- ⁵² Armando Vidigal, A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro, 104.
- ⁵³ Armando Vidigal, A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro, 99.

⁵⁴ Armando Vidigal, *A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro*, (Rio de Janeiro: Biblioteca do Exército, 1985; Armando Vidigal, A evolução do pensamento estratégico naval brasileiro: meados da década de 70 até os dias atuais, (Rio de Janeiro: Clube Naval, 2002); Mário Cézar Flores, "O Preparo da Marinha nos Anos 90" (unpublished manuscript), Brazilian Naval War College file.

⁵⁵ Brazilian Navy, *Relação Total de Acordos*, Brasília: Estado-Maior da Armada, accessed February 13, 2021.

⁵⁶ Brazilian Navy, *Programa de Cursos e Estágios no Exterior para 2021*, Brasília: Estado-Maior da Armada, 2020.

⁵⁷ Stênio Ribeiro, "China supera Estados Unidos e torna-se maior parceiro comercial do Brasil,"*Agência Brasil* (May 2009).

http://memoria.ebc.com.br/agenciabrasil/noticia/2009-05-04/china-supera-estados-unidos-e-torna-se-maior-parceiro-comercial-do-brasil

⁵⁸ Brazilian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, "Estados Unidos da América," accessed January 11, 2021. https://www.gov.br/mre/pt-br/assuntos/relacoes-bilaterais/todos-os-paises/estados-unidos-da-america

⁵⁹ Brazilian Ministry of Economy, "Database of Brazilian international commerce", accessed January 11, 2021.

http://comexstat.mdic.gov.br/pt/home

⁶⁰ Brazilian Ministry of Economy, "Database of Brazilian international commerce", accessed January 11, 2021.

http://comexstat.mdic.gov.br/pt/home

⁶¹ Brazilian Ministry of Economy, "Database of Brazilian international commerce", accessed January 11, 2021.

http://comexstat.mdic.gov.br/pt/home

⁶² Brazilian Ministry of Economy, "Boletim de Investimentos Estrangeiros - Países Selecionados," Secretaria-Executiva da CAMEX, no. 2 (April-Jun 2019), 6.

http://antigo.economia.gov.br/Economia/central-de-conteudos/publicacoes/boletins/boletim-deinvestimentos-estrangeiros/arquivos/boletim-de-investimentos-estrangeiros-paises-selecionados_no-02_2019_vf.pdf

⁶³ Brazilian Ministry of Economy, "Boletim de Investimentos Estrangeiros - Países Selecionados," Secretaria-Executiva da CAMEX, no. 2, 9.

 ⁶⁴ Brazilian Ministry of Economy, "Boletim de Investimentos Estrangeiros - Países Selecionados," 11.
⁶⁵ James Chen; Brian Barnier, "Bretton Woods Agreement and System," *Investopedia*, April 30, 2020. <u>https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/brettonwoodsagreement.asp</u>

⁶⁶ Luana R. Paranhos, "Reservas Internacionais: Importância, Custos e Alternativas no Brasil," (bachelor's thesis, Universidade Estadual de Campinas, 2012), iv,

https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwjbjNWorPvuAh XbMVkFHSVnBiQQFjABegQIAxAD&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.bibliotecadigital.unicamp.br%2Fdoc ument%2F%3Fdown%3D000899111&usg=AOvVaw307AX7obi6AKB1p-6lnCx3.

⁶⁷ Luana R. Paranhos, "Reservas Internacionais: Importância, Custos e Alternativas no Brasil," iv.

⁶⁸ Brazilian Central Bank, "Reservas Internacionais," accessed February 12, 2021,

https://www.bcb.gov.br/estabilidadefinanceira/reservasinternacionais.

⁶⁹ Gladys C. Quevedo; Gutemberg Silva, "O inglês na educação básica brasileira: sabemos sobre ontem; e quanto ao amanhã?" Ensino e Tecnologia em Revista, (July-December, 2017), 261.

https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwitxfCIwvTsAh VSgnIEHRQnBoIQFjAEegQIBRAC&url=https%3A%2F%2Fperiodicos.utfpr.edu.br%2Fetr%2Farticle% 2Fdownload%2F7500%2F4700&usg=AOvVaw2yxwZur6Lwg-F9nsluIG2Y

⁷⁰ Brazilian Congress, Lei nº 13415/2017 (February 2017), Art. 2° and Art. 3°,

https://www2.camara.leg.br/legin/fed/lei/2017/lei-13415-16-fevereiro-2017-784336-publicacaooriginal-152003-pl.html

⁷¹ Instituto de Pesquisa Data Popular, "Demandas de Aprendizagem de Inglês no Brasil", *BritishCouncil.org*, São Paulo, 2014, 12.

https://www.britishcouncil.org.br/sites/default/files/demandas_de_aprendizagempesquisacompleta.pdf

⁷² Fernando A. P. Gimenez; Daniela T. da Rocha, "A presença do filme nacional nas salas de cinema do Brasil: um estudo sobre a codistribuição," *Galáxia*, January-April, 2018, 95.

https://www.scielo.br/pdf/gal/n37/1519-311X-gal-37-0094.pdf

⁷³ Jackson de Souza et al., "Música Brasileira ou música norte-americana? Estudo sobre a indústria musical e as preferências dos jovens brasileiros," *Revista Anagrama* (January-June 2014), 09-10. https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwjxlPOKzPTsAh VtpXIEHcvND0kQFjABegQIBBAC&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.revistas.usp.br%2Fanagrama%2Farti cle%2Fdownload%2F78977%2F83058%2F&usg=AOvVaw11x71Xz1gq9ohN4br2Q9w4

⁷⁴ Jackson de Souza et al., "Música Brasileira ou música norte-americana? Estudo sobre a indústria musical e as preferências dos jovens brasileiros," 8.

⁷⁵ Brazilian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, "Brasileiros no Mundo: Estimativas populacionais das comunidades," accessed January 16, 2021.

http://www.brasileirosnomundo.itamaraty.gov.br/a-comunidade/estimativas-populacionais-dascomunidades/Estimativas%20RCN%202015%20-%20Atualizado.pdf

⁷⁶ Letícia Teixeira, "10 destinos internacionais preferidos dos brasileiros para 2017," *Forbes Online* (December 2016).

https://forbes.com.br/fotos/2016/12/10-destinos-internacionais-preferidos-dos-brasileiros-para-2017/#foto9

⁷⁷ Amanda Pofahl, "The Top Destinations of Brazilian Travelers in the U.S.A," *Latin American Business Stories* (June, 2018).

https://labsnews.com/en/articles/ecommerce/the-top-destinations-of-brazilian-travelers-in-the-u-s-a/

⁷⁸ Stênio Ribeiro, "China supera Estados Unidos e torna-se maior parceiro comercial do Brasil,"*Agência Brasil* (May 2009).

http://memoria.ebc.com.br/agenciabrasil/noticia/2009-05-04/china-supera-estados-unidos-e-torna-se-maior-parceiro-comercial-do-brasil

⁷⁹ Brazilian Ministry of Economy, "Database of Brazilian international commerce", accessed January 11, 2020.

http://comexstat.mdic.gov.br/pt/home

⁸⁰ Palácio do Planalto. "China é maior parceiro comercial do Brasil no mundo," Brasília: Palácio do Planalto, 2019.

https://www.gov.br/planalto/pt-br/acompanhe-o-planalto/noticias/2019/11/china-e-maior-parceirocomercial-do-brasil-no-mundo

⁸¹ Brazilian Ministry of Economy, "Database of Brazilian international commerce", accessed January 11, 2020.

http://comexstat.mdic.gov.br/pt/home

⁸² Brazilian Ministry of Economy, "Database of Brazilian international commerce", accessed January 11, 2020.

http://comexstat.mdic.gov.br/pt/home

⁸³ Brazilian Ministry of Economy, "Database of Brazilian international commerce", accessed January 11, 2020.

http://comexstat.mdic.gov.br/pt/home

⁸⁴ Brazilian Ministry of Economy, "Database of Brazilian international commerce", accessed January 11, 2020.

http://comexstat.mdic.gov.br/pt/home

⁸⁵ Ângela C. Tepassê, "Efeitos da ascensão da China sobre o comércio externo brasileiro: reprimarização, perda de mercados e ampliação de oportunidades" (master's thesis, Pontifícia Universidade Católica de São Paulo, 2010), 89, <u>https://sapientia.pucsp.br/handle/handle/9424</u>

⁸⁶ Antonio C. Dominguez, "China's Financial Statecraft and the internationalization of

the Renminbi: what looms over Brazil's foreign Exchange reserves?" (Postgraduate thesis, Universidade de São Paulo, 2019), abstract.

https://www.teses.usp.br/teses/disponiveis/101/101131/tde-14022020-

103729/publico/Antonio_Cesar_Dominguez.pdf

⁸⁷ Antonio C. Dominguez, "China's Financial Statecraft and the internationalization of the Renminbi: what looms over Brazil's foreign Exchange reserves?", abstract.

⁸⁸ Brazilian Ministry of Economy, "Boletim de Investimentos Estrangeiros - Países Selecionados," Secretaria-Executiva da CAMEX, no. 2 (April-Jun 2019), 6.

http://antigo.economia.gov.br/Economia/central-de-conteudos/publicacoes/boletins/boletim-deinvestimentos-estrangeiros/arquivos/boletim-de-investimentos-estrangeiros-paises-selecionados_no-02_2019_vf.pdf

⁸⁹ Brazilian Ministry of Economy, "Boletim de Investimentos Estrangeiros - Países Selecionados," Secretaria-Executiva da CAMEX, no. 2, 9.

⁹⁰ Brazilian Ministry of Economy, "Database of Brazilian international commerce", accessed January 11, 2020.

http://comexstat.mdic.gov.br/pt/home

⁹¹ Marcelo R. S. Zorovich, "The propensity of the Brazilian private sector to negotiate, join in and support trade and/or investment agreements with China that foster the attraction of Chinese Foreign Direct Investments (FDI) to Brazil," (doctoral's thesis,Universidade de São Paulo, 2020), 64. https://www.teses.usp.br/teses/disponiveis/101/101131/tde-17072020-084727/pt-br.php

⁹² Brazilian Ministry of Economy, "Boletim sobre Investimentos Chineses no Brasil," Secretaria-Executiva da CAMEX, no. 7 (September-December, 2018), 4.

https://www.gov.br/economia/pt-br/centrais-de-conteudo/publicacoes/boletins/boletim-de-investimentosestrangeiros/arquivos/boletins-de-investimentos-estrangeiros-2013-china/boletim-de-investimentoschineses-no-brasil-7deg-bimestre-setembro-dezembro-2018

⁹³ Anna Jaguaribe, *Direction of Chinese Global Investments: Implications for Brazil* (Brasília: Alexandre de Gusmão Foundation, 2018), 24.

http://funag.gov.br/biblioteca/download/1232-CHINESE-GLOBAL-INVESTIMENT.pdf

⁹⁴ Anna Jaguaribe, Direction of Chinese Global Investments: Implications for Brazil, 24.

⁹⁵ Marcelo R. S. Zorovich, "The propensity of the Brazilian private sector to negotiate, join in and support trade and/or investment agreements with China that foster the attraction of Chinese Foreign Direct Investments (FDI) to Brazil," 66.

⁹⁶ Marcelo R. S. Zorovich, "The propensity of the Brazilian private sector to negotiate, join in and support trade and/or investment agreements with China that foster the attraction of Chinese Foreign Direct Investments (FDI) to Brazil," 66.

⁹⁷ Lin Cui and Fuming Jiang, "State ownership effect on firms' FDI ownership decisions under institutional pressure: a study of Chinese outward-investing firms," *Journal of International Business Studies* 43, 264–284 (2012). <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/jibs.2012.1</u> ⁹⁸ Marcos C. Paiva et al., *Brazil-China: The State of The Relationship, Belt And Road, And Lessons For The Future*, (Rio de Janeiro: Brazilian Center For International Relations, 2019), 109.

https://assets.new.siemens.com/siemens/assets/api/uuid:3f854e6a-189f-4bb5-bdc4-

da52e7d6f1c7/version:1574082871/cebri-brasil-china-bilingue-5nov2019.pdf

⁹⁹ Marcos C. Paiva et al., *Brazil-China: The State of The Relationship, Belt And Road, And Lessons For The Future*, 109.

¹⁰⁰ Marcos C. Paiva et al., *Brazil-China: The State of The Relationship, Belt And Road, And Lessons For The Future*, (Rio de Janeiro: Brazilian Center For International Relations, 2019), 109.

¹⁰¹ Marcos C. Paiva et al., *Brazil-China: The State of The Relationship, Belt And Road, And Lessons For The Future*, (Rio de Janeiro: Brazilian Center For International Relations, 2019), 109.

¹⁰² Marcos C. Paiva et al., *Brazil-China: The State of The Relationship, Belt And Road, And Lessons For The Future*, (Rio de Janeiro: Brazilian Center For International Relations, 2019), 109.

¹⁰³ Antonio C. Dominguez, "China's Financial Statecraft and the internationalization of

the Renminbi: what looms over Brazil's foreign Exchange reserves?", 71.

¹⁰⁴ Rebecca M. Nelson et al., *The U.S. Dollar as the World's Dominant Reserve Currency*, CRS Report for Congress IF11707 (Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service, December 18, 2020), 1. https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/IF/IF11707

¹⁰⁵ James Chen; Brian Barnier, "Bretton Woods Agreement and System," *Investopedia*, April 30, 2020. <u>https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/brettonwoodsagreement.asp</u>

¹⁰⁶ Antonio C. Dominguez, "China's Financial Statecraft and the internationalization of the Renminbi: what looms over Brazil's foreign Exchange reserves?", 70; Eswar Prasad, "The Dollar Trap," *Harvard Business Review Magazine* (December 2013), <u>https://hbr.org/2013/12/the-dollar-trap</u>

¹⁰⁷ Marcelo R. S. Zorovich, "The propensity of the Brazilian private sector to negotiate, join in and support trade and/or investment agreements with China that foster the attraction of Chinese Foreign Direct Investments (FDI) to Brazil," 26.

¹⁰⁸ Marcelo R. S. Zorovich, "The propensity of the Brazilian private sector to negotiate, join in and support trade and/or investment agreements with China that foster the attraction of Chinese Foreign Direct Investments (FDI) to Brazil," 26.

¹⁰⁹ Marcelo R. S. Zorovich, "The propensity of the Brazilian private sector to negotiate, join in and support trade and/or investment agreements with China that foster the attraction of Chinese Foreign Direct Investments (FDI) to Brazil," 26.

¹¹⁰ Renata Ribeiro, "Aliança tecnológica com a China na área espacial: os 30 anos do Programa CBERS (1988-2018)," 194.

¹¹¹ Renata Ribeiro, "Aliança tecnológica com a China na área espacial: os 30 anos do Programa CBERS (1988-2018)," 91.

¹¹² Renata Ribeiro, "Aliança tecnológica com a China na área espacial: os 30 anos do Programa CBERS (1988-2018)," 90.

¹¹³ "Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons," July 1, 1968. <u>http://disarmament.un.org/treaties/t/npt</u>

¹¹⁴ Renata Ribeiro, "Aliança tecnológica com a China na área espacial: os 30 anos do Programa CBERS (1988-2018)," 95.

¹¹⁵ Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas Espaciais, "História", news release, February 05, 2018, <u>http://www.cbers.inpe.br/sobre/historia.php</u>

¹¹⁶ Renata Ribeiro, "Aliança tecnológica com a China na área espacial: os 30 anos do Programa CBERS (1988-2018)," 178.

¹¹⁷ Renata Ribeiro, "Aliança tecnológica com a China na área espacial: os 30 anos do Programa CBERS (1988-2018)," 191.

¹¹⁸ Renata Ribeiro, "Aliança tecnológica com a China na área espacial: os 30 anos do Programa CBERS (1988-2018)," 191.

¹¹⁹ Renata Ribeiro, "Aliança tecnológica com a China na área espacial: os 30 anos do Programa CBERS (1988-2018),"194.

¹²⁰ Renata Ribeiro, "Aliança tecnológica com a China na área espacial: os 30 anos do Programa CBERS (1988-2018),", 201.

¹²¹ Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas Espaciais, "Lançamento CBERS 04A", news release, December 20, 2019,

http://www.cbers.inpe.br/lancamentos/cbers04a.php

¹²² Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas Espaciais, "Perguntas Frequentes", accessed January 14, 2020, <u>http://www.inpe.br/faq/index.php?pai=17</u>

¹²³ Renata Ribeiro, "Aliança tecnológica com a China na área espacial: os 30 anos do Programa CBERS (1988-2018)," abstract.

¹²⁴ Renata Ribeiro, "Aliança tecnológica com a China na área espacial: os 30 anos do Programa CBERS (1988-2018)," abstract.

¹²⁵ Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas Espaciais, "Perguntas Frequentes", accessed January 14, 2020, http://www.inpe.br/faq/index.php?pai=17

¹²⁶ Antonio C. Dominguez, "China's Financial Statecraft and the internationalization of the Renminbi: what looms over Brazil's foreign Exchange reserves?" 55.

¹²⁷ Anna Jaguaribe, Direction of Chinese Global Investments: Implications for Brazil, 268.

¹²⁸ Anna Jaguaribe, Direction of Chinese Global Investments: Implications for Brazil, 269.

¹²⁹ Rafael Barifouse, "Por que 5G da Huawei põe Brasil em saia-justa com China e EUA," *BBC News Brasil* (November 2019).

https://www.bbc.com/portuguese/brasil-50468237

¹³⁰ Pedro R. Vilela, "Anatel prevê leilão do 5G no final do primeiro semestre de 2021," *Agência Brasil* (November 2020),

https://agenciabrasil.ebc.com.br/economia/noticia/2020-11/anatel-preve-leilao-do-5g-no-final-do-primeiro-semestre-de-2021

¹³¹ Pedro R. Vilela, "Anatel prevê leilão do 5G no final do primeiro semestre de 2021,"; Associated Press, "Governo Bolsonaro se divide sobre Huawei no 5G: saiba quem é quem na disputa," *Gazeta do Povo* (September 2020),

https://www.gazetadopovo.com.br/economia/huawei-no-5g-posicao-do-governo-bolsonaro/

¹³² Pedro R. Vilela, "Anatel prevê leilão do 5G no final do primeiro semestre de 2021,"

¹³³ Pedro R. Vilela, "Anatel prevê leilão do 5G no final do primeiro semestre de 2021,"; Associated Press, "Governo Bolsonaro se divide sobre Huawei no 5G: saiba quem é quem na disputa,"

¹³⁴ *BBC News Brasil*, "CoronaVac: por que a Anvisa determinou a paralisação dos testes com a vacina da Sinovac/Butantan," November 10, 2020.

https://www.bbc.com/portuguese/brasil-54885955

¹³⁵ Tatiane Moreno, "Grupo Bandeirantes e China Media Group fecham acordo de cooperação," *Band.com* (November 2020), https://noticias.band.uol.com.br/noticias/100000975707/grupo-

<u>bandeirantes-e-china-media-group-fecham-acordo-de-cooperacao.html</u>, "China and Brazil partner in film and television production," *CGTN* (November 2019), <u>https://news.cgtn.com/news/2019-11-13/China-and-Brazil-partner-in-film-and-television-production-LAkJaRS2CA/index.html</u>

¹³⁶ Gustavo Sumares, "O chinês vai substituir o inglês? Saiba mais sobre a crescente importância do mandarim," *Estudarfora.org* (November 2020); Jackson de Souza et al., "Música Brasileira ou música norte-americana? Estudo sobre a indústria musical e as preferências dos jovens brasileiros," 08. https://www.estudarfora.org.br/importancia-do-mandarim/ ¹³⁷ Luís Antonio Paulino, "The Role of Confucio Institutes in Brazil During the Period 2008-2018: The Experience of The Instituto Confucio in UNESP", *Revista do Instituto de Estudos Econômicos e Internacionais* (June 2019), 177.

https://ieei.unesp.br/index.php/IEEI_MundoeDesenvolvimento/article/view/44

¹³⁸ Louise Brown, "What's the Fuss Over Confucius Institute?", *Toronto Star* (June 2014), <u>https://search-proquest-com.lomc.idm.oclc.org/newspapers/whats-fuss-over-confucius-</u> institute/docview/1540053956/se-2?accountid=14746.

¹³⁹ Luís Antonio Paulino, "The Role of Confucio Institutes in Brazil During the Period 2008-2018: The Experience of The Instituto Confucio in UNESP", 177.

¹⁴⁰ Maria Mendes, "Kung Fu: Estilo de arte marcial chinesa," Educamaisbrasil.com (January 2019), <u>https://www.educamaisbrasil.com.br/enem/educacao-fisica/kung-fu</u>

¹⁴¹ Gustavo Andrade, "Tudo sobre MMA e UFC: história, regras e grandes lutadores," *Esportelândia.com* (October 2019),

https://www.esportelandia.com.br/artes-marciais/tudo-sobre-mma/; "Confira quais são as lutas mais praticadas no Brasil hoje", *Esportudo.com* (November 2016), https://www.esportudo.com/confira-quaissao-as-lutas-mais-praticadas-no-brasil-hoje.

¹⁴² Gustavo Andrade, "Tudo sobre MMA e UFC: história, regras e grandes lutadores."

¹⁴³ Marcelo R. S. Zorovich, "The propensity of the Brazilian private sector to negotiate, join in and support trade and/or investment agreements with China that foster the attraction of Chinese Foreign Direct Investments (FDI) to Brazil," 23.

¹⁴⁴ Danilo Marcondes; Pedro H. B. Barbosa, "Brazil-China Defense Cooperation: A Strategic Partnership in the Making?" *Journal of Latin American Geography* 17, no. 2 (July 2018), 147, <u>https://search-proquest-com.lomc.idm.oclc.org/scholarly-journals/brazil-china-defense-cooperation-</u> strategic/docview/2098276761/se-2?accountid=14746

¹⁴⁵ Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People's Republic of China, "Plano de Ação Conjunta entre o Governo da República Federativa do Brasil e o Governo da República Popular da China, 2010-2014," *Embaixada da República Popular da China no Brasil*, accessed in January 25, 2020, http://br.china-embassy.org/por/zbgx/t682404.htm

¹⁴⁶ Brazilian Ministry of Defense, Ata da Sexta Reunião do Comitê Conjunto de Intercâmbio e Cooperação Entre os Ministérios da Defesa da República Federativa do Brasil e da República Popular da China (Brasília, DF, June 5, 2019).

¹⁴⁷ Brazilian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, "Atos assinados por ocasião da Visita da Presidenta Dilma Rousseff à República Popular da China – Pequim, 12 de abril de 2011", accessed January 25, 2021, <u>http://antigo.itamaraty.gov.br/pt-BR/notas-a-imprensa/2565-atos-assinados-por-ocasiao-da-visita-dapresidenta-dilma-rousseff-a-republica-popular-da-china-pequim-12-de-abril-de-2011#ato1g;</u> "China firma parceria com Brasil por cooperação militar," *Terra Online* (April 2011),

https://www.terra.com.br/noticias/brasil/politica/china-firma-parceria-com-brasil-por-cooperacaomilitar,b8fb97730cbda310VgnCLD200000bbcceb0aRCRD.html; Danilo Marcondes; Pedro H. B. Barbosa, "Brazil-China Defense Cooperation: A Strategic Partnership in the Making?" 148.

¹⁴⁸ Brazilian Ministry of Defense, *Livro Branco de Defesa Nacional* (Brasília, DF, 2012), <u>https://www.gov.br/defesa/pt-br/arquivos/2012/mes07/lbdn.pdf</u>.

¹⁴⁹ Brazilian Ministry of Defense, *Livro Branco de Defesa Nacional* (Brasília, DF, 2012), https://www.gov.br/defesa/pt-br/arquivos/2012/mes07/lbdn.pdf.

¹⁵⁰ Danilo Marcondes; Pedro H. B. Barbosa, "Brazil-China Defense Cooperation: A Strategic Partnership in the Making?" 150.

¹⁵¹ Brazilian Navy, *Programa de Cursos e Estágios no Exterior para 2021*, Brasília: Estado-Maior da Armada, 2020.

¹⁵² Alexandre Galante, "Comandante da MB na China," Poder Naval (April 2009),

- https://www.naval.com.br/blog/2009/04/23/comandante-da-mb-na-china/; Danilo Marcondes and Pedro H. B. Barbosa, "Brazil-China Defense Cooperation: A Strategic Partnership in the Making?" 150.
- ¹⁵³ Danilo Marcondes and Pedro H. B. Barbosa, "Brazil-China Defense Cooperation: A Strategic Partnership in the Making?" 150.
- ¹⁵⁴ Danilo Marcondes and Pedro H. B. Barbosa, "Brazil-China Defense Cooperation: A Strategic Partnership in the Making?" 150.
- ¹⁵⁵ Brazilian Navy, "Nova Estação Antártica Comandante Ferraz", accessed in February 23, 2021, <u>https://www.marinha.mil.br/secirm/proantar/nova-estacao</u>; Brazilian Navy, "Reconstrução da Estação Antártica Comandante Ferraz (EACF)", accessed in February 23, 2021,

https://www.marinha.mil.br/secirm/reconstrucao.

¹⁵⁶ "Brasil sedia Conferência Internacional de Tecnologia de Defesa," *Agência Brasil* (April 2003), <u>http://memoria.ebc.com.br/agenciabrasil/noticia/2003-04-13/brasil-sedia-conferencia-internacional-de-tecnologia-de-defesa</u>.

¹⁵⁷ Danilo Marcondes and Pedro H. B. Barbosa, "Brazil-China Defense Cooperation: A Strategic Partnership in the Making?" 150.

¹⁵⁸ Brazilian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, "Declaração conjunta entre Brasil e China por ocasião da visita de Estado do presidente Xi Jinping", accessed in February 23, 2021, <u>https://www.gov.br/mre/pt-br/canais_atendimento/imprensa/notas-a-imprensa/declaracao-conjunta-entre-brasil-e-china-por-ocasiao-da-visita-de-estado-do-presidente-xi-jinping-brasilia-17-de-julho-de-2014</u>

¹⁵⁹ Danilo Marcondes and Pedro H. B. Barbosa, "Brazil-China Defense Cooperation: A Strategic Partnership in the Making?" 149.

¹⁶⁰ R. Ellis Evan and Román D Ortiz, "Why the U.S. Can't Ignore Latin America's Security Challenges," *World Politics Review*, (March 2017),

https://www.worldpoliticsreview.com/insights/21672/instability-in-latin-america-could-impact-u-ssecurity; R. Ellis Evan, "Chinese Security Engagement in Latin America," *Center for Strategic and International Studies*, November, 2020, <u>https://www.csis.org/analysis/chinese-security-engagement-latin-america</u>

¹⁶¹ Mark P. Sullivan and Thomas Lum, *China's Engagement with Latin America and the Caribbean*, (Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service, June 1, 2020), 2.

https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/IF/IF10982

¹⁶² Charissa Yong, "US to Cut Ties with WHO, Strip HK's Special Status: Trump Blames China's 'Pattern of Misconduct', Accuses WHO of being Under its Total Control." *The Straits Times* (May 2020). https://search-proquest-com.lomc.idm.oclc.org/docview/2408018508?accountid=14746

¹⁶³ Joaquín Cottani, "The Effects of Covid-19 on Latin America's Economy," *Center for Strategic and International Studies* (November 2020),

https://csis-website-prod.s3.amazonaws.com/s3fs-

public/publication/201118_Cottani_Covid19_Latin_America_Economic_Outlook.pdf

¹⁶⁴ R. Ellis Evan, "Chinese Security Engagement in Latin America," *Center for Strategic and International Studies*, <u>https://www.csis.org/analysis/chinese-security-engagement-latin-america</u>

¹⁶⁵ Kate O'Keeffe, "U.S. Sanctions Chinese Firms and Executives Active in Contested South China Sea; Companies Include Units of CCCC, a Leading Contractor for Xi Jinping's Belt and Road Initiative to Develop Infrastructure and Trade Links Across Asia, Africa and Beyond." *Wall Street Journal* (*Online*), Aug 26, 2020. <u>https://search-proquest-com.lomc.idm.oclc.org/newspapers/u-s-sanctionschinese-firms-executives-active/docview/2437107417/se-2?accountid=14746</u>; Gerard Gayou, "Who's Afraid of the Belt and Road? the 'Debt Trap' Results from Beijing's Blunders. it would be a Lousy Strategy for Global Influence," *Wall Street Journal (Online)*, Jun 09, 2019. https://search-proquestcom.lomc.idm.oclc.org/newspapers/whos-afraid-belt-road-debt-trap-resultsbeijings/docview/2237290228/se-2?accountid=14746

¹⁶⁶ Ernesto Londoño, "China's Long, Quiet Push into Latin America," *New York Times*, 2018. <u>https://search-proquest-com.lomc.idm.oclc.org/docview/2077781310?accountid=14746</u>.

¹⁶⁷ R. Ellis Evan, "Chinese Continue Rampant Fish Poaching in Latin American Waters," *Newsmax,* December 13, 2018.

https://www.newsmax.com/evanellis/latin-america-fishing-china/2018/12/13/id/894322/

Bibliography

- "Brasil sedia Conferência Internacional de Tecnologia de Defesa." *Agência Brasil* (April 2003). <u>http://memoria.ebc.com.br/agenciabrasil/noticia/2003-04-13/brasil-sedia-conferencia-internacional-de-tecnologia-de-defesa</u>.
- "China and Brazil partner in film and television production." *CGTN* (November 2019). <u>https://news.cgtn.com/news/2019-11-13/China-and-Brazil-partner-in-film-and-television-production-LAkJaRS2CA/index.html</u>
- "China firma parceria com Brasil por cooperação military." *Terra Online* (April 2011). <u>https://www.terra.com.br/noticias/brasil/politica/china-firma-parceria-com-brasil-por-</u> <u>cooperação-militar,b8fb97730cbda310VgnCLD200000bbcceb0aRCRD.html</u>
- "Confira quais são as lutas mais praticadas no Brasil hoje." *Esportudo.com* (November 2016). <u>https://www.esportudo.com/confira-quais-sao-as-lutas-mais-praticadas-no-brasil-hoje</u>
- "CoronaVac: por que a Anvisa determinou a paralisação dos testes com a vacina da Sinovac/Butantan" *BBC News Brasil* (November, 2020). <u>https://www.bbc.com/portuguese/brasil-54885955</u>
- "Governo Bolsonaro se divide sobre Huawei no 5G: saiba quem é quem na disputa." *Gazeta do Povo* (September 2020). <u>https://www.gazetadopovo.com.br/economia/huawei-no-5g-posicao-do-governo-bolsonaro/</u>
- "Inter-American Treaty of Reciprocal Assistance." September 2, 1947. http://www.oas.org/juridico/english/treaties/b-29.html
- "Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons." July 1, 1968. <u>http://disarmament.un.org/treaties/t/npt</u>
- Andrade[,] Gustavo. "Tudo sobre MMA e UFC: história, regras e grandes lutadores." *Esportelândia.com* (October 2019) <u>https://www.esportelandia.com.br/artes-marciais/tudo-sobre-mma/</u>
- Barifouse, Rafael. "Por que 5G da Huawei põe Brasil em saia-justa com China e EUA." *BBC News Brasil* (November 2019). https://www.bbc.com/portuguese/brasil-50468237
- Bezerra, Juliana. "O Brasil na Segunda Guerra Mundial." *TodaMatéria.com* (June 2019). <u>https://www.todamateria.com.br/o-brasil-na-segunda-guerra-mundial/</u>
- Bolsonaro, Jair. "Exército no poder foi instrumento da vontade popular." *Notícias Uol* (March 2014). <u>https://noticias.uol.com.br/opiniao/coluna/2014/03/26/exercito-no-poder-foi-instrumento-da-vontade-popular.htm?cmpid=copiaecola&cmpid=copiaecola</u>

Brazilian Central Bank. "Reservas Internacionais." Accessed February 12, 2021. https://www.bcb.gov.br/estabilidadefinanceira/reservasinternacionais.

- Brazilian Congress. *Lei nº 13415/2017*. Art. 2º and Art. 3º (February 2017). <u>https://www2.camara.leg.br/legin/fed/lei/2017/lei-13415-16-fevereiro-2017-784336-publicacaooriginal-152003-pl.html</u>
- Brazilian Ministry of Defense. "Ata da Sexta Reunião do Comitê Conjunto de Intercâmbio e Cooperação Entre os Ministérios da Defesa da República Federativa do Brasil e da República Popular da China." Brasília, DF (June 2019).
- Brazilian Ministry of Defense. *Livro Branco de Defesa Nacional*. Brasília, DF, 2012. <u>https://www.gov.br/defesa/pt-br/arquivos/2012/mes07/lbdn.pdf</u>.

Brazilian Ministry of Economy. "Boletim de Investimentos Estrangeiros - Países Selecionados." Secretaria-Executiva da CAMEX, no. 2 (April-Jun 2019). <u>http://antigo.economia.gov.br/Economia/central-de-</u> <u>conteudos/publicacoes/boletins/boletim-de-investimentos-estrangeiros/arquivos/boletim-</u> de-investimentos-estrangeiros-países-selecionados_no-02_2019_vf.pdf

Brazilian Ministry of Economy. "Boletim de Investimentos Estrangeiros - Países Selecionados." Secretaria-Executiva da CAMEX, no. 2 (April-Jun 2019). <u>http://antigo.economia.gov.br/Economia/central-de-</u> <u>conteudos/publicacoes/boletims/boletim-de-investimentos-estrangeiros/arquivos/boletim-</u> de-investimentos-estrangeiros-países-selecionados_no-02_2019_vf.pdf

Brazilian Ministry of Economy. "Boletim sobre Investimentos Chineses no Brasil." Secretaria-Executiva da CAMEX, no. 7 (September-December, 2018). https://www.gov.br/economia/pt-br/centrais-de-conteudo/publicacoes/boletins/ boletim-deinvestimentos-estrangeiros/arquivos/boletins-de-investimentos-estrangeiros-2013china/boletim-de-investimentos-chineses-no-brasil-7deg-bimestre-setembro-dezembro-2018

- Brazilian Ministry of Economy. "Database of Brazilian international commerce." Accessed January 11, 2021. <u>http://comexstat.mdic.gov.br/pt/home</u>
- Brazilian Ministry of Foreign Affairs. "Atos assinados por ocasião da Visita da Presidenta Dilma Rousseff à República Popular da China – Pequim, 12 de abril de 2011." Accessed January 25, 2021. <u>http://antigo.itamaraty.gov.br/pt-BR/notas-a-imprensa/2565-atos-assinados-porocasiao-da-visita-da-presidenta-dilma-rousseff-a-republica-popular-da-china-pequim-12de-abril-de-2011#ato1g</u>

Brazilian Ministry of Foreign Affairs. "Brasileiros no Mundo: Estimativas populacionais das comunidades." Accessed January 16, 2021. <u>http://www.brasileirosnomundo.itamaraty.gov.br/a-comunidade/estimativas-populacionaisdas-comunidades/Estimativas%20RCN%202015%20-%20Atualizado.pdf</u>

- Brazilian Ministry of Foreign Affairs. "Declaração conjunta entre Brasil e China por ocasião da visita de Estado do presidente Xi Jinping." Accessed in February 23, 2021. <u>https://www.gov.br/mre/pt-br/canais_atendimento/imprensa/notas-a-imprensa/declaracao-conjunta-entre-brasil-e-china-por-ocasiao-da-visita-de-estado-do-presidente-xi-jinping-brasilia-17-de-julho-de-2014</u>
- Brazilian Ministry of Foreign Affairs. "Estados Unidos da América." Accessed January 11, 2021. <u>https://www.gov.br/mre/pt-br/assuntos/relacoes-bilaterais/todos-os-paises/estados-unidos-da-america.</u>
- Brazilian Navy. "CNBW Histórico." Accessed January 11, 2021. https://www.marinha.mil.br/cnbw/?q=pt-br/historico
- Brazilian Navy. "Nova Estação Antártica Comandante Ferraz." Accessed in February 23, 2021. https://www.marinha.mil.br/secirm/proantar/nova-estacao
- Brazilian Navy. "Reconstrução da Estação Antártica Comandante Ferraz (EACF)." Accessed in February 23, 2021. <u>https://www.marinha.mil.br/secirm/reconstrucao</u>.
- Brazilian Navy. *Programa de Cursos e Estágios no Exterior para 2021*. Brasília: Estado-Maior da Armada, 2020.
- Brazilian Navy. *Relação Total de Acordos*. Brasília: Estado-Maior da Armada. Accessed February 13, 2021.
- Brown, Louise. "What's the Fuss Over Confucius Institute?" *Toronto Star* (June 2014). <u>https://search-proquest-com.lomc.idm.oclc.org/newspapers/whats-fuss-over-confucius-institute/docview/1540053956/se-2?accountid=14746</u>.
- Central Intelligence Agency. "The World Factbook." Accessed January 11, 2021. <u>https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/countries/canada/#geography</u> <u>https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/countries/brazil/#geography</u> <u>https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/rankorder/2147rank.html</u>.
- Chen, James and Barnier, Brian. "Bretton Woods Agreement and System." *Investopedia* (April, 2020). <u>https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/brettonwoodsagreement.asp</u>
- Cottani, Joaquín. "The Effects of Covid-19 on Latin America's Economy," *Center for Strategic* and International Studies (November 2020). <u>https://csis-website-</u> prod.s3.amazonaws.com/s3fspublic/publication/201118 Cottani Covid19 Latin America Economic Outlook.pdf
- Cui, Lin and Jiang, Fuming. "State ownership effect on firms' FDI ownership decisions under institutional pressure: a study of Chinese outward-investing firms." *Journal of International Business Studies* 43, 264–284 (2012). <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/jibs.2012.1</u>

- Davis, Sonny B. "Brazil-United States Military Relations in The Early Post-World War II Era." *Diálogos* (June 2017). <u>http://www.periodicos.uem.br/ojs/index.php/Dialogos/article/view/37761</u>
- Dominguez, Antonio C. "China's Financial Statecraft and the internationalization of the Renminbi: what looms over Brazil's foreign Exchange reserves?" Postgraduate thesis, Universidade de São Paulo, 2019. <u>https://www.teses.usp.br/teses/disponiveis/101/101131/tde-14022020-</u> 103729/publico/Antonio Cesar Dominguez.pdf
- Edward Wong, "U.S. Versus China: A New Era of Great Power Competition, but Without Boundaries," *The New York Times*, June 26, 2019.
- Ellis, R. Evan and Ortiz, Román D. "Why the U.S. Can't Ignore Latin America's Security Challenges." *World Politics Review* (March 2017). <u>https://www.worldpoliticsreview.com/insights/21672/instability-in-latin-america-could-impact-u-s-security</u>
- Ellis, R. Evan. "Chinese Security Engagement in Latin America." *Center for Strategic and International Studies* (November 2020). <u>https://www.csis.org/analysis/chinese-security-engagement-latin-america</u>
- Ellis. R. Evan. "Chinese Continue Rampant Fish Poaching in Latin American Waters." *Newsmax* (December 2018). <u>https://www.newsmax.com/evanellis/latin-america-fishing-china/2018/12/13/id/894322/</u>
- Fitch, Asa and Stu Woo. "The U.S. Vs. China: Who is Winning the Key Technology Battles? China Leads in 5G, but the U.S. has an Edge in Other Crucial niches—for Now." *Wall Street Journal Online* (April 2020). <u>https://search-proquest-</u> <u>com.lomc.idm.oclc.org/newspapers/u-s-vs-china-who-is-winning-key-</u> <u>technology/docview/2388651312/se-2?accountid=14746</u>.
- Flores, Mário Cézar. "O Preparo da Marinha nos Anos 90." Unpublished manuscript, Brazilian Naval War College file.
- Galante, Alexandre. "Comandante da MB na China." *Poder Naval* (April 2009). <u>https://www.naval.com.br/blog/2009/04/23/comandante-da-mb-na-china/</u>
- Gayou, Gerard. "Who's Afraid of the Belt and Road? the 'Debt Trap' Results from Beijing's Blunders. It would be a Lousy Strategy for Global Influence." *Wall Street Journal* (*Online*) (June 2019). <u>https://search-proquest-com.lomc.idm.oclc.org/newspapers/whosafraid-belt-road-debt-trap-results-beijings/docview/2237290228/se-2?accountid=14746</u>

- Gimenez, Fernando A. P and Rocha, Daniela T. "A presença do filme nacional nas salas de cinema do Brasil: um estudo sobre a codistribuição." *Galáxia* (January-April, 2018). https://www.scielo.br/pdf/gal/n37/1519-311X-gal-37-0094.pdf
- Glaser, Bonnie S. and Funaiole Mathew P. "Poll Shows Increase in American Support for Defending Taiwan." *The Diplomat* (October 2020). <u>https://thediplomat.com/2020/10/poll-shows-increase-in-american-support-for-defending-taiwan/</u>.
- Hendricks, Michael. "UNITAS: Our 58 Years of Unity In The Americas." *Surface Warfare Magazine* (Fall 2017). <u>https://www.public.navy.mil/surfor/swmag/Pages/UNITAS-Our-58-years-of-unity-in-the-Americas.aspx</u>
- Instituto de Pesquisa Data Popular. "Demandas de Aprendizagem de Inglês no Brasil." BritishCouncil.org, São Paulo, 2014. <u>https://www.britishcouncil.org.br/sites/default/files/demandas_de_aprendizagempesquisac_ompleta.pdf</u>
- Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas Espaciais. "História." News Release (February 2018). <u>http://www.cbers.inpe.br/sobre/historia.php</u>
- Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas Espaciais. "Lançamento CBERS 04A." News Release (December 2019). <u>http://www.cbers.inpe.br/lancamentos/cbers04a.php</u>
- Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas Espaciais. "Perguntas Frequentes." Accessed January 14, 2020, <u>http://www.inpe.br/faq/index.php?pai=17</u>
- Jaguaribe, Anna. Direction of Chinese Global Investments: Implications for Brazil. Brasília: Alexandre de Gusmão Foundation, 2018. <u>http://funag.gov.br/biblioteca/download/1232-</u> <u>CHINESE-GLOBAL-INVESTIMENT.pdf</u>
- Londoño, Ernesto. "China's Long, Quiet Push into Latin America." New York Times (July 2018). https://search-proquest-com.lomc.idm.oclc.org/docview/2077781310?accountid=14746.
- Marcondes, Danilo and Barbosa, Pedro H. B. "Brazil-China Defense Cooperation: A Strategic Partnership in the Making?" *Journal of Latin American Geography* 17, no. 2 (July 2018). <u>https://search-proquest-com.lomc.idm.oclc.org/scholarly-journals/brazil-china-defensecooperation-strategic/docview/2098276761/se-2?accountid=14746</u>
- McDonald, Scott D. and Burgoyne Michael C. *China's Global Influence: Perspectives and Recommendations.* Honolulu, HI: Asia-Pacific Center for Security Studies, 2019.
- Mendes, Maria. "Kung Fu: Estilo de arte marcial chinesa." *Educamaisbrasil.com* (January 2019). <u>https://www.educamaisbrasil.com.br/enem/educacao-fisica/kung-fu</u>

- Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People's Republic of China. "Plano de Ação Conjunta entre o Governo da República Federativa do Brasil e o Governo da República Popular da China, 2010-2014." *Embaixada da República Popular da China no Brasil*. Accessed in January 25, 2020. <u>http://br.china-embassy.org/por/zbgx/t682404.htm</u>
- Moreno, Tatiane. "Grupo Bandeirantes e China Media Group fecham acordo de cooperação." *Band.com* (November 2020). <u>https://noticias.band.uol.com.br/noticias/100000975707/grupo-bandeirantes-e-china-</u> media-group-fecham-acordo-de-cooperacao.html
- Nelson Rebecca M. et al. *The U.S. Dollar as the World's Dominant Reserve Currency*. CRS Report for Congress IF11707. Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service, December 18, 2020. <u>https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/IF/IF11707</u>
- O'Keeffe, Kate. "U.S. Sanctions Chinese Firms and Executives Active in Contested South China Sea; Companies Include Units of CCCC, a Leading Contractor for Xi Jinping's Belt and Road Initiative to Develop Infrastructure and Trade Links Across Asia, Africa and Beyond." *Wall Street Journal (Online)* (August 2020). <u>https://search-proquestcom.lomc.idm.oclc.org/newspapers/u-s-sanctions-chinese-firms-executivesactive/docview/2437107417/se-2?accountid=14746</u>
- Organization of American States. "Our History," Accessed January 11, 2021. http://www.oas.org/en/about/our_history.asp
- Organization of American States. "What we do," Accessed January 11, 2021. http://www.oas.org/en/about/what_we_do.asp
- Paiva, Marcos C. et al. *Brazil-China: The State of The Relationship, Belt and Road, and Lessons For The Future.* Rio de Janeiro: Brazilian Center For International Relations, 2019. <u>https://assets.new.siemens.com/siemens/assets/api/uuid:3f854e6a-189f-4bb5-bdc4-da52e7d6f1c7/version:1574082871/cebri-brasil-china-bilingue-5nov2019.pdf</u>
- Palácio do Planalto. "China é maior parceiro comercial do Brasil no mundo." Brasília: Palácio do Planalto, 2019. <u>https://www.gov.br/planalto/pt-br/acompanhe-o-planalto/noticias/2019/11/china-e-maior-parceiro-comercial-do-brasil-no-mundo</u>
- Pantucci, Raffaello and Lain, Sarah. "China's Grand Strategy: The Belt and Road Initiative." *The White Hall Papers* (May 2017). <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02681307.2016.1274604</u>.
- Paranhos, Luana R. "Reservas Internacionais: Importância, Custos e Alternativas no Brasil." Bachelor's thesis, Universidade Estadual de Campinas, 2012. <u>https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwj</u> <u>bjNWorPvuAhXbMVkFHSVnBiQQFjABegQIAxAD&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.bibliot</u> <u>ecadigital.unicamp.br%2Fdocument%2F%3Fdown%3D000899111&usg=AOvVaw307AX</u> <u>7obi6AKB1p-6lnCx3</u>.

- Paulino, Luís Antonio. "The Role of Confucio Institutes in Brazil During the Period 2008-2018: The Experience of The Instituto Confucio in UNESP." *Revista do Instituto de Estudos Econômicos e Internacionais* (June 2019) <u>https://ieei.unesp.br/index.php/IEEI_MundoeDesenvolvimento/article/view/44</u>
- Pofahl, Amanda. "The Top Destinations of Brazilian Travelers in the U.S.A." *Latin American Business Stories* (June, 2018). <u>https://labsnews.com/en/articles/ecommerce/the-top-</u> destinations-of-brazilian-travelers-in-the-u-s-a/
- Prasad, Eswar. "The Dollar Trap." *Harvard Business Review Magazine* (December 2013). <u>https://hbr.org/2013/12/the-dollar-trap</u>
- Quevedo, Gladys and Silva, Gutemberg. "O inglês na educação básica brasileira: sabemos sobre ontem; e quanto ao amanhã?" Ensino e Tecnologia em Revista (July-December, 2017). <u>https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwi</u> <u>txfCIwvTsAhVSgnIEHRQnBoIQFjAEegQIBRAC&url=https%3A%2F%2Fperiodicos.utf</u> <u>pr.edu.br%2Fetr%2Farticle%2Fdownload%2F7500%2F4700&usg=AOvVaw2yxwZur6L</u> <u>wg-F9nsluIG2Y</u>
- Ribeiro, Renata. "Aliança tecnológica com a China na área espacial: os 30 anos do Programa CBERS (1988-2018)." Postgraduate thesis, Universidade de Brasília, 2019. <u>https://repositorio.unb.br/bitstream/10482/38674/1/2019_RenataCorrêaRibeiro.pdf.</u>
- Ribeiro, Stênio. "China supera Estados Unidos e torna-se maior parceiro comercial do Brasil."*Agência Brasil* (May 2009). <u>http://memoria.ebc.com.br/agenciabrasil/noticia/2009-05-04/china-supera-estados-unidos-e-torna-se-maior-parceiro-comercial-do-brasil</u>
- Ribeiro, Stênio. "China supera Estados Unidos e torna-se maior parceiro comercial do Brasil."*Agência Brasil* (May 2009). <u>http://memoria.ebc.com.br/agenciabrasil/noticia/2009-05-04/china-supera-estados-unidos-e-torna-se-maior-parceiro-comercial-do-brasil</u>
- Salazar, Camilo. "Latin America: how are their military forces?" *LatinAmerican Post* (April 2019). <u>https://latinamericanpost.com/27205-latin-america-how-are-their-military-forces</u>.
- Souza, Jackson et al. "Música Brasileira ou música norte-americana? Estudo sobre a indústria musical e as preferências dos jovens brasileiros." *Revista Anagrama* (January-June 2014). https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwj xlPOKzPTsAhVtpXIEHcvND0kQFjABegQIBBAC&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.revista s.usp.br%2Fanagrama%2Farticle%2Fdownload%2F78977%2F83058%2F&usg=AOvVaw 11x71Xz1gq9ohN4br2Q9w4
- Sullivan, Mark P. and Lum, Thomas. *China's Engagement with Latin America and the Caribbean*. Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service, June 1, 2020. <u>https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/IF/IF10982</u>

- Sumares, Gustavo. "O chinês vai substituir o inglês? Saiba mais sobre a crescente importância do mandarim." *Estudarfora.org* (November 2020) https://www.estudarfora.org.br/importancia-do-mandarim/
- Teixeira, Letícia. "10 destinos internacionais preferidos dos brasileiros para 2017." *Forbes Online* (December 2016). <u>https://forbes.com.br/fotos/2016/12/10-destinos-internacionais-</u> preferidos-dos-brasileiros-para-2017/#foto9
- Tepassê, Ângela C. "Efeitos da ascensão da China sobre o comércio externo brasileiro: reprimarização, perda de mercados e ampliação de oportunidades." Master's thesis, Pontifícia Universidade Católica de São Paulo, 2010. <u>https://sapientia.pucsp.br/handle/handle/9424</u>
- The World Bank. "GDP (current in US\$): Word Bank national accounts data, and OECD National Accounts data files." Accessed January 11, 2021. <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.CD?most_recent_value_desc=true</u>.
- U.S. Census Bureau. "U.S. and World Population Clock." Accessed January 11, 2021. https://www.census.gov/popclock/world.
- U.S. Department of State. "U.S. Consulate General Recife." Accessed January 11, 2021. https://br.usembassy.gov/embassy-consulates/recife/.
- US Census Bureau. *Current Population*. https://www.census.gov/popclock/print.php?component=counter.
- US Department of Defense. *Military and Security Developments Involving the People's Republic* of China 2019. Annual Report to Congress, May 2, 2019.
- Vidigal, Armando. A Evolução do Pensamento Estratégico Naval Brasileiro. Rio de Janeiro: Biblioteca do Exército, 1985.
- Vidigal, Armando. A evolução do pensamento estratégico naval brasileiro: meados da década de 70 até os dias atuais. Rio de Janeiro: Clube Naval, 2002.
- Vilela, Pedro R. "Anatel prevê leilão do 5G no final do primeiro semestre de 2021." *Agência Brasil* (November 2020). <u>https://agenciabrasil.ebc.com.br/economia/noticia/2020-</u> <u>11/anatel-preve-leilao-do-5g-no-final-do-primeiro-semestre-de-2021</u>
- Yong, Charissa. "US to Cut Ties with WHO, Strip HK's Special Status: Trump Blames China's 'Pattern of Misconduct', Accuses WHO of being Under its Total Control." *The Straits Times* (May 2020). <u>https://search-proquest-</u> <u>com.lomc.idm.oclc.org/docview/2408018508?accountid=14746</u>

Zorovich, Marcelo R. S. "The propensity of the Brazilian private sector to negotiate, join in and support trade and/or investment agreements with China that foster the attraction of Chinese Foreign Direct Investments (FDI) to Brazil." Doctoral's thesis, Universidade de São Paulo, 2020. <u>https://www.teses.usp.br/teses/disponiveis/101/101131/tde-17072020-084727/ptbr.php</u>